

National Library of Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Bibliothèque nationale

Services des thèses canadiennes

۲

du Canada

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

CANADIAN THESES

THESES CANADIENNES

NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

AVIS

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'auteur qui accompagnent cette thèse.

THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE

Canadä



Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Division des thèses canadiennes

Canadian Theses Division

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

PERMISSION TO MICROFILM --- AUTORISATION DE MICROFILMER

• Please print or type -- Écrire en lettres moulées ou dactylographier

Full Name of Author -- Nom complet de l'auteur

UNA MAN-SWIT FLAR

| Date of Birth - Date de naissance | Country of Birth — Lieu de paissance |
|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| (lif 21 nil | Honly Kong |

Permanent Address — Résidence fixe

#1706-8210-11158 EDMONTON 21TA - 26-207

Title of Thesis - Titre de la thèse

VITAMIN & GETINOL & AND POST PREAMTING COLORENTAL CARCER

University - Université

ALBERTA U. OF

Degree for which thesis was presented - Grade pour lequel cette thèse fut présentée

Misic

| Year this degree conferred — Année d'obtention de ce grade | Name of Supervisor — Nom du directeur de thèse |
|--|--|
| - <u></u> , 9x3 | AP TIPHY & PASA |

Permission is hereby granted to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

L'autorisation est, par la présente, accordée à la BIBLIOTHÈ-QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.

L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'auteur.

Date Signature

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

e de la companya de la

Vitamin A (Retinol) And Postoperative Colorectal Cancer

by

Una Man-shu Chan

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES & RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF Master of Science

IN

Nutrition

Faculty Of Home Economics

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

Fall, 1983.

DARK COLOUR COLEUR FONCE



ALBERTA CANCER BOARD

May 24, 1983

Ms. Una Chan Dept. of Foods and Nutrition Faculty of Home Economics University of Alberta Edmonton, Alberta T6G 2M8

Dear Ms. Chan,

Please gø ahead and use the information published in "Cancer Registration in Alberta" in your thesis. It was a pleasure to be associated in a small way with your interesting project.

With best wishes for your continuing success.

Sincerely,

5

Dr. Gerry B. Hill Director Department of Epidemiology ALBERTA GANCER BOARD

GBH/bjs

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR TITLE OF THESIS

Vitamin A (Retinol) And Postoperative

Colorectal Cancer

Una Man-shu Chan-

DEGREE[/]FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENTED Master of Science YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED Fall, 1983.

Permission is hereby granted to THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or_scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

(SIGNED)

PERMANENT ADDRESS:

#1706-8210-111 Street Edmonton, Alberta. T6G 2C7

pt...9....19 83 DATED

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES & RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty Of Graduate Studies & Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled Vitamin A (Retinol) And Postoperative Colorectal Cancer submitted by Una Man-shu Chan in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Nutrition.

16/8/83

Abstract

In order to determine whether low plasma levels of vitamin A were related to increased risk of cancer recurrence, plasma vitamin A was measured in 103 patients (54 males, 49 females) who had had colorectal cancer surgically removed. According to the modification of the Dukes classification, 66 had B2 tumors (i.e. tumor with no nodal involvement); 37 had C tumors (i.e tumor with lymph-node metastases). These patients were part of the Cross Cancer Institute Adjuvant GI Cohorts who were on the control arms receiving no further treatment, and had been followed from 5 months to 6 years after surgery. At the time of blood sample collection, they were 'believed to be free of neoplastic disease. Their results were compared with 65 (34 males, 31 females) apparently healthy control subjects who were Red Cross blood donors from various locations in Northern Alberta.

In addition to vitamin A, plasma RBP, cholesterol and cortisol and proteins which are related in the metabolism of this vitamin were also measured.

Results indicated that the plasma concentrations of vitamin A were sigificantly lower in both groups of patients when compared with the healthy subjects (p<0.001). RBP levels appeared to be significantly lower only in Dukes' C patients. Plasma cholesterol, cortisol, the albumin and globulin ratio, however, remained unaffected. These findings appeared to be persistent during the follow-up

iv

study when a second blood sample was collected less than 1 to 4 months later from 40 patients. Furthermore, plasma vitamin A , in conjunction with RBP, was found to be even lower in those who subsequently had cancer recurmence than in those who remained free of apparent cancer. Moreover, the two patients who had died of the disease during the study exhibited severely low values of both plasma vitamin A and RBP. The significance of these results will be discussed.

Acknowledgements

I wish to thank my advisor, Prof. T.K. Basu for his advice, guidance and encouragement in this project.

My sincere thanks are also due to the members of the Examining Committee : Dr. E.A. Donald, Dr. A.L.A. Fields and Dr. L.G. Stephens-Newsham for their help and forebearance in reviewing the thesis.

This project is also made possible with the financial aid of the Alberta Cancer Board, Research No. R-92. I would like to thank Dr. T.A. McPherson, Director of the Department of Medicine, Cross Cancer Institute for his generous help and kind cooperation; Dr. A.L.A. Fields for coordinating this project and allowing me to study the patients under his care; and Ms. Denise Harbora for her help in the collection of blood samples and reviewing the patients' records.

I am most grateful to Dr. G.B. Hill, Director of the Department of Epidemiology, Alberta Cancer Board, for his advice and guidance in the statistical analyses, for sacrificing his valuable time for discussions, for his concern, and for kindly permitting me to use his programming facilities.

I am thankful to Mr. Jim Perry, Technical supervisor of the Red Cross Blood Transfusion and his staff, Mrs. Margaret Sit for supplying the blood samples from the healthy subjects.

I would like to thank the University of Alberta for granting the Elizabeth Russell MacEachran Scholarship, and

vi

the Department of Foods & Nutrition, Faculty of Home Economics for granting the Research and Teaching Assistantships.

My special thanks are also extended to Mr. C. Humphrey and Mr. R. Weingarst, Department of Computing Services, for their fortitude and assistance; and my brother. Rerence for his patience in proofreading the manuscript.

Finally, I am indebted to my parents who have been a source of encouragement and constant support at all times.

vii

Table of Contents

| Chapter | Page |
|-----------|---|
| 1. INT | RODUCTION |
| 1.1 | Background Information2 |
| | 1.1.1 ₀ Functions Of Vitamin A2 |
| ni. | 1.1.2 Vitamin A and Epithelial Structures2 |
| | 1.1.3 Vitamin A Metabolism3 |
| | 1.1.4 Selected Characteristics Of Vitamin A In Man8 |
| , | 1.1.5 Retinol And Carcinoma: Animal Studies 10 |
| | 1.1.6 Vitamin A And Cancer In Man14 |
| | 1.1.6.1 Diet And Cancer Incidence14 |
| | 1.1.6.2 Pl'asma Vitamin A Levels And Cancer - Clinical Studies17 |
| 1.2 | Conclusion And Plan Of Present Study |
| 2. MET | HODOLOGY |
| 2.1 | INTRODUCTION |
| 2.2 | STUDY POPULATION |
| • | 2.2.1 Patients |
| | 2.2.2 Controls |
| 2.3 | BIOCHEMICAL MEASUREMENTS |
| • • | 2.3.1 Sample Collection |
| | 2.3.2 Determination Of Plasma Vitamin A |
| • | 2.3.3 Determination Of Plasma Cholesterol33 |
| | 2.3.4 Plasma Cortisol Determination |
| к. 4 И | 2.3.5 Determination Of Total Proteins In The Plasma |
| | 2.3.6 Plasma Albumin Determination41 |
| | 2.3.7 Plasma Globulin Determination41 |

viii

| • | 2.3.8 | B Determination Of Retinol-binding Proteins In the Plasma43 |
|--|------------------|--|
| | 2.3.9 | Statistical Analyses45 |
| 3. RES | SULTS . | |
| 3.1 | l Contr | ols |
| 3.2 | 2 Contr | ols VS Patients |
| · · · · · · | 3.2.1 | Plasma Vitamin A And RBP In Control Subjects And Postoperative Colorectal Cancer Patients |
| | 3.2.2 | Plasma Cholesterol And Cortisol Levels In Control Subjects And Postoperative Colorectal Cancer Patients |
| | 3.2.3 | Plasma Protein, Albumin And Globulin Levels In Control Subjects And Postoperative Colorectal Cancer Patients49 |
| 3.3 | Patie | nts |
| | 3.3.1 | Distribution Of Tumor Sites In The Postoperative Colorectal Cancer Patients53 |
| | 3.3,2 | Effects Of Tumor Sites On Plasma Vitamin A And Its Related Factors |
| | 3.3.3 | Effects of Time In Blood Sample Collection Following Surgery On Plasma Vitamin A And Its Related Factors In Cancer Patients |
| ۰ | 3.3.4 | Follow-up Studies On Patients With Serial Samples |
| ديو د د ا د د د مو ² | 3.3.5 | Plasma Vitamin A And Its Related Factors By Disease Status |
| | 3.3.6 | Disease-free Survival64 |
| 3.4 | Relati Choles | onship Between Plasma Vitamin A, RBP, terol And Cortisol64 |
| 4. Disc | ussion | ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• |
| 4.1 | Cortis | ol73 |
| 4.2 | Choles | terol |

7

1

. .

•

ix .

| | 4.3 | Retinol-binding Protein (RBP) |
|-------|------|--|
| | • | 4.3.1 Malnutrition |
| •••• | | 4.3.2 Decreased Synthesis Of RBP81 |
| | | 4.3.3 Decreased Level Of Vitamin A In The Liver .82 |
| | ÷. | 4.3.4 Increased Utilization Or Requirement Of Vitamin A |
| | 4.4 | Reduced Dietary Intake |
| | 4.5 | Conclusion |
| Bibli | ogra | phy |

Х

List of Tables

٠.,

| | | List of Tables | • |
|-------------------------|------|--|--------|
| | Desc | ription Page | |
| • • | 1.1 | Organ And Tissue Sites Which Are Most Susceptible To Epithelial Cancer | |
| ۱. ۲۰۰ | 2.1 | Age And Sex Distribution Of The Study Population28 | |
| | | Effect Of Age And Sex On Plasma Vitamin A And Its Related Factors In Control Subjects | ·. · · |
| • | 3.2 | Plasma Vitamin A And RBP Levels In Control Subjects and Postoperative Colorectal Cancer Patients | |
| | 3.3 | Plasma Cholesterol And Cortisol Levels In Control Subjects And Postoperative Colorectal Cancer Patients51 | |
| | 3.4 | Plasma Protein, Albumin And Globulin Levels In Control Subjects And Postoperative Colorectal Cancer Patients52 | |
| ▲ | 3.5 | Distribution Of Tumor Sites In The Cancer Patients Before Surgery54 | |
| | 3.6 | Effects Of Tumor Sites On Plasma Vitamin A, RBP, Cholesterol, Cortisol And Protein Levels 56 | |
| | 3.7 | Effect Of Time Large In Between Blood Sample Collection And Surgery On Plasma Vitamin A And Its Related Factors In Postoperative Colorectal Cancer Patients 57 | |
| • | 3.8 | Plasma Vitamin A, BP, Cholesterol, Cortisol And Protein Levels In Pottents With Serial Samples 59 | - |
| 1 - - - | 3.9 | Plasma Vitamin A And Its Related Factors In Patients Remaining Disease-free And In Patients With Subsequent Recurrence Following Surgery | • • |
| | 3.10 | Plasma Vitamin A And Its Related Factors In Control Subjects And Apparently Disease-free Postoperative Colorectal Cancer Patients | |
| | | xi | |

.

3.11 Clinical And Pathological Characteristics Patients Who Died Of The Disease During The Study63

.

٠,

.

.

;

xii

List of figures

,

١

÷

| | Desc | ription Page | |
|----|------|--|-----|
| | 2000 | riperen rage | |
| | 1.1 | Effect Of Retinol Deficiency On The Morphology Of The Epithelial Cells4 | |
| | 1.2 | Vitamin A Uptake, Storage And Circulation | |
| | 2.1 | No. Of New Cases And Deaths Of Colorectal Cancer*, 1979-198023 | |
| | 2.2 | Standard Curve For Vitamin A Determination | ••• |
| | 2.3 | Standard Curve For Cholesterol Determination35 | |
| | 2.4 | Standard Curve For Cortisol Determination | |
| | 2.5 | Standard Curve For The Determination Of Total Protein. | |
| •, | 2.6 | Standard Curve For Albumin Determination42 | |
| | 2.7 | Standard Curve For The Determination Of Retinol-Binding Protein | |
| | 3.1 | Disease-free Survival By Dukes' Stage65 | |
| | 3.2 | Relationship Between Plasma Vitamin A And RBP In Control Subjects And Postoperative Colorectal Cancer Patients | |
| | 3.3 | Relationship Between Plasma Vitamin A And Cholesterol In Control Subjects And Postoperative Colorectal Cancer Patients | |
| | 3.4 | Relationship Between Plasma Vitamin A And Cortisol In Control Subjects And Postoperative Colorectal Cancer Patien | |
| | | xiii | • |

| ·. | | Abbreviations | |
|---------|----|--|--------|
| BCG | Ë, | Bacille Calmette Guerin | |
| ΒP | = | benzopyrene | Â. |
| CRABP | = | cellular retinoic acid-binding protein | 1 * |
| CRBP | = | cellular retinol-binding protein | |
| dl | = | deciliter | |
| DMBA | Ħ | dimethylbenz[a]anthracene | |
| DNA | = | deoxyribonucleic acid | |
| 5 - F u | = | 5-flurouracil | |
| GI | = | gastrointestinal | |
| mcg | = | microgram | |
| mcl | = | microliter | |
| MeCCNU | = | l-(2-chloroethyl)-3-(4-methylcyclohexyl)-1- nitrosourea (semustine) | |
| mg | = | milligram | |
| ml | = | milliliter | |
| mm | _= | millimeter | |
| nm | = | nanometer | |
| RBP | = | o retinol-binding protein | |
| RR | = | relative risk | |
| SEM | = | standard error of the mean | |
| 3-MC | = | 3-methylcholanthrene | • |
| WWCCI | = | W.W. Cross Cancer Institute | / |
| | | | / |

xiv

Chapter 1

iV

INTRODUCTION

The crucial role of vitamin A (retinol) in the control of cellular differentiation in epithelial tissues has long been recognized (Moore, 1967). Vitamin A and its analogs (retinoids) have been under study in recent years both as inhibitors of carcinogenesis and as potential anti-tumor agents. Their ability to inhibit chemical carcinogen induced epithelial cancer of the skin, lung, bladder, and breast in experimental animals is well documented (Sporn et al., 1976; Sporn, 1977).

Subnormal levels of plasma vitamin A have also been implicated as a possible cause of epithelial cancers of the lung, oropharynx, bladder and gastrointestinal tract in humans by both epidemiological and biochemical studies. Most of these studies of the hypothesis have relied on results in blood samples after the diagnosis of cancer. Although recent prospective studies have indicated that low plasma retinol levels are associated with increased risk of developing cancer (Wald et al., 1980; Kark et al., 1981, Haines et al., 1982), evidence for a relationship between vitamin A and subsequent cancer recurrence in patients who had undergone curative surgery is virtually non-existent. This is the underlying motivation towards the initiation of the present study.

1

ß

1.1 Background Information

1.1.1 Functions Of Vitamin A

Vitamin A occurs physiologically as the alcohol (retinol), the aldehyde (retinaldehyde), the acid (retinoic acid) and the ester (retinyl ester). Sporn (1976) has coined the term "retinoids" to describe all moieties of vitamin A molecules.

Vitamin A has a number of important functions in the body. It is necessary for vision, bone development, reproduction, and normal differentiation of epithelial tissues. These functions are mediated by the different forms of the molecule. The biologically active form in mammalian tissue is all-trans retinol which can be oxidized to the aldehyde, retinal, which is involved in the visual cycle (Wald, 1968). This is a reversible reaction, as' retinal can also be converted by the body to retinol. Oxidation of retinol also produces irreversibly retinoic acid which is capable of promoting growth and differentiation of epithelial tissues, but it is not active in vision (Dowling & Wald, 1960) and reproduction (Pawson, 1981; Thompson et al., 1964).

1.1.2 Vitamin A and Epithelial Structures

Of all the functions mentioned above, the most profound effect of vitamin A is its ability in controlling the normal differentiation and maintenance of epithelial tissues (De

Luca et al., 1972). The functional and structural integrity of epithelial cells throughout the body is dependent upon an adequate supply of vitamin A. If this vitamin is deficient, differentiation switches in the pathway leading to keratinization of squamous metaplasia (Fig. 1.1). During the process of squamous metaplasia, mucous membranes change from a single layer of mucin-secreting and ciliated epithelium to multiple layers of epithelial cells, with overlying keratin resembling those of the skin (Moore, 1967; Toyoshima & Leighton, 1975).

The mode of action of vitamin A in normal epithelial differentiation and maintenance of the mucous membrane is not well defined. It is believed that retinoic acid is the major biologically active form of vitamin A in somatic epithelial cells, where the vitamin influences cellular differentiation (De Luca et al., 1971), while retinol is the stabilizer of biological membrances (Roels et al., 1969).

Epithelial tissues that depend upon retinoids for normal cellular differentiation and growth account for over half of the total primary cancer in both men and women. Epithelial cancer includes squamous metaplasia and carcinoma of a wide varity of organs and tissue sites in the body (Table 1.1).

1.1.3 Vitamin A Met sm

الۍ د

Dietary vitamin β mints wither as retinyl esters or as the provitamin β -capcia. There of retinolare hydrolyzed

3′



ROUND MOIST CILIATED

NORMAL EPITHELIAL CELLS

RETINOL DEFICIENCY

÷

KERATINIZED EPITHELIAL CELLS

IRREGULAR DRY DECILIATED

Fig. 1.1 EFFECT OF RETINOL DEFICIENCY ON THE MORPHOLOGY OF THE EPITHELIAL CELLS

| noma) COLON ARYNX RECTUM GALL BLADDER KIDNEY BLADDER | CONTACT EPITHELIA' | EXCRETORY EDITHELIA? | |
|--|---|--|---|
| PHARYNX RECTUM GALL BLADDER KIDNEY BLADDER | ludes Melanoma) | | SECRETORY EPITHELLA |
| | SKIN(includes Melanoma) BUCCAL CAVITY & PHARYNX BOCPHAGUS STOMACH SMALL INTESTINE LARYNX | CDLON RECTUM GALL BLADDER KIDNEY BLADDER | PANCREAS BREAST PROSTATE TESTIS UTERUS OVARY |
| | TRACHEA,BRONCHUS & LUNG CERVIX UTERI(invasive) | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | THYROID |

5

Ì

.

by specific esterases before retinol can be absorbed by intestinal mucosal cells (Ganguly, 1969). In contrast, β -carotene is first absorbed and then enzymatically cleaved to give two retinol molecules which are in turn reduced to retinol (Goodman & Huang, 1965). Before retinol can leave the intestinal mucosa, it must be esterified with long chain fatty acids preferentially palmitic acid. The resulting retinyl esters then pass into the lymphatics and are transported as chylomicrons to the blood from where they are taken up and stored by the liver (Huang & Goodman, 1965; Goodman et al., 1966). Eighty to ninety percent of the stored vitamin A in the human body is located in the liver, but substantial amounts are also found in the kidney and fat tissues and lesser amount in the plasma, small intestine, lungs and adrenals. In all tissues, retinyl esters are the major storage form. In contrast to tissue stores, over 90% of the plasma vitamin A occurs as retinol (Underwood, 1974; Mahadeven et al., 1965) (Fig. 1.2).

The mobilization and transportation of vitamin A from liver storage requires hydrolysis of the retinyl esters followed by conjugation of the free retinol with a specific, 20,000 molecular weight transport protein - retinol-binding protein (RBP) produced by the liver. The holoprotein is then released to the circulation where it binds to prealbumin as a 1:1 mour complex. The resulting complex transports retinol to target organs (Goodman, 1974; Peterson et al., 1974).



Fig. 1.2 VITAMIN A UPTAKE, STORAGE AND CIRCULATION

Rask and co-workers (1976) using isolated intestinal mucosal cells showed that the cellular uptake of retinol is mediated by a receptor. The mucosal cells readily accumulate labelled retinol from its complex with RBP without concomitant cellular uptake of the protein itself. The membrane receptor seems to recognize the protein rather than the retinol. During the uptake of the retinol, an altered form of RBP is generated, which cannot bind retinol and consequently prealbumin. It differs from holo-RBP, in that it lacks the terminal arginine residue. Heller and Chen (1977) using isolated pigment epithelial cells from bovine retina and labelled RBP also showed that the binding was at the cell surface without penetration of RBP into the Therefore RBP is not only important for the transport cell. of retinol in the blood, but is also an indispensable entity for recognition by the target cells and consequently for 'penetration of retinol through the plasma membrane.

1.1.4 Selected Characteristics Of Vitamin A In Man

Serum vitamin A is not in simple equilibrium with body stores and there is little relationship between serum and liver levels of vitamin A (Underwood, 1974; Meyer et al., 1942). Plasma levels of vitamin A thus do not provide a reliable index for predicting the vitamin A tissue levels. When dietary supplies are inadequate, liver stores are utilized to maintain a relatively constant blood level until stores are nearly exhausted, when this occurs, plasma levels

drop rapidly. In the absence of febrile or liver disease or protein malnutrition, it is possible that very low blood levels reflect depleted tissue reserves. However, acute infections and febrile disorders are associated with a transient reduction in plasma levels of vitamin A but liver stores are not necessarily depleted. Stress, in the form of infection or emotional factors, may influence plasma levels by decreased mobilization or hepatic stores, increased cellular need and increased renal loss (Underwood, 1974). Gastrointestinal disturbances which hinder the absorption of fats may be associated with decreased levels of vitamin A (Mahadeven et al., 1965). In contrast, elevated plasma and liver levels of vitamin A occur in the nephrotic syndrome and may reflect a decreased urinary loss and decreased catabolism by the kidney (Underwood, 1974).

Systemic data relating blood levels of vitamin A with levels of intake and with evidence of tissue deficiency in adults is limited.

During prolonged controlled depletion experiments with vitamin A carried out in human beings (Brenner & Roberts, 1943; Wald et al., 1969), the serum carotene levels decreased fairly rapidly in the early part of vitamin A depletion, while the serum vitamin A levels were resistant to change. It was noted that serum vitamin A levels are highly characteristic of the individual and less characteristic of vitamin A intake, whereas the plasma carotenoid levels differed little among individuals on

similar intake. In the classic Sheffield Study in World War II there was no significant difference between the plasma vitamin A levels of the deficient and the normal control groups even after the deficient group had been on approximately zero vitamin A intake for over one year (Hume & Krebs, 1949). In the few cases in which decrease in plasma vitamin A was actually found, it occurred only after signs of an acute deficiency had happened. In summary, it appears that the finding of low serum carotene levels reflect low intake, but that serum vitamin A levels may characterize individuals rather than reflecting intake.

Age and sex differences have been described. Males appear to have higher serum vitamin A levels than females ar young children have lower serum levels than do adults. Serum carotene levels are reported to be greater in adult females than males (Pearson, 1967). Evidence in this regard is apparently sparse and not systemic.

1.1.5 Retinol And Carcinoma: Animal Studies

A connection between vitamin A and cancer was detected as early as 1926, (Fujimaki) when the development of carcinomas was found in rats fed on a vitamin A deficient diet. However, only recentive have there been intensive efforts to investigate the possible role of vitamin A in relation to epithelial cancer.

Experimental studies have revealed that vitamin A deficiency is related to cancer of the stomach, nasopharynx,

lower respiratory tract and endocervix which are lined by glandular epithelium (Saffiotti et al., 1967; Chu & Malmgren, 1965). Vitamin A deficiency may change the glandular epithelium to squamous and whenever such "squamous metaplasia" occurs, there are grounds for suspecting increased risk of cancer development.

Convincing evidence of the significance of vitamin A in protecting against cancer has come from experimental studies in which tissues in organ culture or in intact animals are exposed to carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) to develop squamous cancer. Furthermore, a number of studies have shown that systemic prophylactic administration of vitamin A in its ester, alcohol or acidoform, both before and after exposure to various chemical carcinogens (3-methylcholanthrene, 3-MC; benzopyrene? BP; dimethylbenz[a]anthracene, DMBA), inhibits the induction of metaplasia and carcinomas in various sites. Thus vitamin A protected rats against the early development of squamous neoplasms in response to 3-MC given by endo-tracheal instillation (Cone & Nettlesheim, 1973). Retinoid administration reduced the development of squamous metaplasia and carcinomas in rodents subjected to intra-tracheal administration of carcinogenic polycyclic hydrocarbons (Saffiotti et al., 1967). Supplemental vitamin A has been reported to prevent cancer of the forestomach and cervix in hamsters treated with polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (Chu & Malmgren, 1965). Vitamin A also

inhibits squamous metaplasia induced by BP in organ cultures of hamster tracheas (Crocker &\Sanders, 1970).

The prevention of epithelial cancer by retinoids was demonstrated by Bollag (1975) using the classical two-stage skin carcinogenesis system. In this study, topical applications of the promoter, croton oil, induced benign papillomas which progressed to carcinomas. Oral retinoic acid, administered during the promotion phase, delayed the appearance, retarded the growth, and led to regression of papillomas. The appearance of carcinomas was also delayed and the incidence reduced. More recently, several experimental studies have included the inhibition of lung tumors in hamsters given intratracheal benzopyrene (Port et al., 1975) by oral 13-cis-retinoic acid (a synthetic retinoid analog) and the protection of rats against DMBA-induced breast cancer by oral retinyl methyl ether (Grubbs et al., 1977).

There is also evidence that carcinogens are more potent in vitamin A deficient animals. Various carcinogens bind more ightly to DNA in cultured tracheas from hamsters fed on a vitamin A deficient diet than from healthy animals (Genta et al., 1974). In the absence of vitamin A intake, the susceptibility of rats to pulmonary carcinogens was increased even in the presence of substantial liver stores of vitamin A and in the absence of deficiency symptoms (Nettlesheim & Williams, 1976).

Squamous metaplasia appears to occur as an early phenotypic change following exposure to a carcinogen. The similarity in appearance of the histological change of retinol deficiency and a carcinogen-induced squamous metaplasia leads to speculation that the two conditions are similar in more fundamental ways, namely, a) that a retinol-deficient epithelium is more prone to malignant change either "spontaneously" (i.e. without application of a specific carcinogenic agent) or in response to a carcinogen, and b) that retinol may reverse the early metaplasic changes induced by carcinogens and so inhibit or delay the appearance of carcinoma.

Indeed, animal studies have demonstrated that retinol deficiency increases susceptibility to chemical carcinogenesis in the respiratory system (Nettlesheim et al., 1975), skin (Davies, 1967), bladder (Cohen et al., 1976), and colon (Newberne & Rogers, 1973a). Small amounts of retinyl acetate or palmitate in the diet appear to abolish this enhanced susceptibility. Large doses of the natural retinoids have been reported to provide additional protection against carcinoma of the trachea and bronchus (Saffiotti et al., 1967), esophagus, stomach and intestine (Chu & Malmgren, 1965), lung (Cone & Nettlesheim, 1973) and breast (Moon et al., 1977).

1.1.6 Vitamin A And Cancer In Man

Although evidence based on laboratory animal models has become increasingly voluminous, information relating to humans is sparse. Nonetheless, the evidence to support a link between vitamin A deficiency and cancer in man comes from two sources – epidemiological studies of dietary intake and cancer incidence and biochemical studies involving comparison of serum vitamin A levels in cancer cases and controls.

1.1.6.1 Diet And Cancer Incidence

A number of studies have associated a relative deficiency of vitamin A intake with an increased risk of lung cancer. In 1975, Bjelke reported results of a five-year follow-up study involving 8,278 men who had responded to a questionnaire on their smoking and dietary habits. An index of vitamin A intake, essentially based on reported consumption of carrots, eggs and milk, was negatively associated with lung cancer incidence at all levels of cigarette smoking. The relative risks (RR) of lung cancer for a low vitamin A index were greatest in heavy smokers (RR=2.86), less for light smokers (RR=2.27) and close to unity for non-smokers. The overall RR was 2.63 (p<0.01). Higher risks were found when incidences of histologically confirmed carcinomas - other than adenocarcinomas - were compared.

More recently, Hirayama (1979) reported results of a 10-year follow-up study involving 2,417,844 Japanese who had responded to questionnaires as to their diet and smoking habits. Eight hundred and seven deaths from lung cancer were recorded, the RR was found to be reduced by half in those who consumed green-yellow vegetables daily as compared to non-consumers. The consumers of green-yellow vegetables showed lower risk of lung cancer in both smokers and non-smokers, and this was true for both males and females. A similar report was made by MacLennan and his colleagues (1977) who found in a case-control study that low consumption of green vegetables was related to lung cancer in both The estimated risk of low versus high vegetable sexes. intake was 2.23.

A research group, at the Roswell Park Memorial Institute in the United States, conducted a number of studies concerning vitamin A intake and cancer. These studies indicated that individuals with a lower vitamin A intake had a higher incidence of cancer of the bladder (Mettlin & Graham, 1979), lung (Mettlin et al., 1979), and larynx (Graham et al., 1981). One of the case-control studies they have conducted was the association between vitamin A intake and the RR of lung cancer (Mettlin et al., 1979). Retrospective dietary and smoking data were collected from interviewing 292 patients with lung cancer and 801 control patients, who

2-

<15

had neither cancer nor disease of the respiratory system, during 1957-1965. Vitamin A intake was estimated from interviews with patients as to their usual frequency of consumption of 21 different food items which were considered to be rich in vitamin A during the 12 months prior to the onset of symptoms. The vitamin A content of the diet was calculated using the U.S. Department of Agriculture tables of food values (Watt & Merrill, 1968). The Mantel-Haenszel (1959) ageand smoking-adjusted RR for these patients with a lower vitamin A intake was 1.7 times greater than the controls (p<0.05). Increased risk of bladder cancer together with a low index of vitamin A intake has been reported by Mettlin and Graham (1979). Over five hundred bladder cancer patients were compared with at least one thousand age-matched controls, and a RR of 2.07 (p<0.01) was obtained for those with a low versus high vitamin A index. Milk and carrot intakes were the major sources of ascertained vitamin A intake.

These studies present a consistent picture as to the relationship between low vitamin A intake and increased RR of cancers of epithelial cell origin. In most of the studies, specific interest in vitamin A arose only after completion of an investigation undertaken for reasons unrelated to vitamin A status, so that only some of the food sources of vitamin A were investigated, such as milk, carrots and green-yellow

vegetables. The omissions of foods, such as liver, fortified margarine and any vitamin supplements used may have resulted in an underestimation of the RR for vitamin A. Therefore, it is of paramount importance that the evidence of the association between vitamin A intake and cancer be substantiated by biochemical assessment of vitamin A status.

1.1.6.2 Plasma Vitamin A Levels And Cancer - Clinical Studies

Subnormal plasma vitamin A has been observed in cancer of some epithelial tissues such as gastrointestinal (GI) tract (Abels et al., 1941), bronchus (Basu et al., 1976), oropharynx (Ibrahim et al., 1977) and lung (Atukorala et al., 1979). Comparisons of the plasma retinol levels between control patients and newly diagnosed cancer patients in both developed and developing countries, such as Britain (Basu et al., 1976; Atukorala et al., 1979), United States (Abels et al., 1941; Cohen et al., 1977), India (Wahi, 1962), Pakistan (Ibrahim et al., 1977) and East Africa (Clifford, 1972), have revealed lower retinol levels in cancer patients than, in controls.

In a study of 17 cases of nasopharyngeal carcinoma in East Africa (Clifford, 1972), levels of both plasma vitamin A and carotene were significantly lower in those with cancer than controls (p<0.05). In the study of oral and oropharyngeal cancers in Pakistan by Ibrahim et

al. (1977), the plasma retinol levels were highly and significantly lower (by 50%) in 203 cancer patients than in 112 controls. Wahi et al. (1962) found the same trend in India. A case-control study by Basu et al. (1974) involving 35 hospitalized terminal cancer patients and 10 non-cancerous hospitalized controls showed a linear relationship between serum cholesterol and vitamin A. Both parameters were low in the cancer patients. A study involving 28 newly diagnosed cases of bronchial carcinoma, 10 healthy controls and 9 patients with non-malignant bronchial disease showed that the bronchial carcinoma patients had vitamin A levels substantially and significantly lower than in the controls (p<0.01) (Basu et al., 1976). In 1941, Abels et al. reported a case-control study of hospitalized cancer patients including 51 GI (28 gastric, 18 rectal, and 5 esophageal cancer), 48 leukemia, 21 Hodgkin's disease, 9 pancreas, and 6 bone sarcoma patients., All of these patients had mean plasma vitamin A levels appreciably lower than a selected sample of healthy controls.

In recent years, there have been reports suggesting that lower vitamin A may predispose an individual to a higher risk of cancer (Kark et al., 1981; Wald et al., 1980; Haines et al., 1982). Kark and Wald analyzed the total retinol levels in stored blood samples, taken for unrelated research purposes from people living in the

U.S. and U.K., who were apparently free of cancer at that time. In both of these studies, people with total blood retinol levels near the top of the normal range were at significantly lower risk of developing cancer over the subsequent few years than those with levels near the bottom of the normal range. Kark et al. followed a total of 3,102 individuals (both blacks and whites) in Evans County in Georgia for 12 - 14 years. Blood samples were taken upon entry to the study, and were stored at -20°. One hundred and twenty-nine new cases of cancer developed over the 14 years, and 85 persons survived until the end of the study. The results from this study indicated that those with low plasma retinol values had a six-fold increased risk of developing cancer in subsequent years. This association was independent of age, smoking habits and plasma cholesterol.

The retrospective study conducted by Wald et al. involved 16,000 males, aged 35 - 64 years. These people attended a research centre for a comprehensive health-screening examination between March, 1975 to December, 1978. Blood samples were taken and the sera were stored at -40°C. By the end of 1976, 86 men had developed cancer. Controls were 172 males chosen from the remainder study population who were alive and without cancer. Mean retinol for all cancer patients was significantly, lower (p<0.025) than for controls with
the difference being greatest for GI and lung cancer. RR of cancer associated with retinol levels at the lowest quintile was 2.2 times that in the highest quintile. These authors suggested that plasma retinol levels may have a predictive value for subsequent cancer.

1.2 Conclusion And Plan Of Present Study

Both retrospective and prospective data have consistently provided evidence that vitamin A deficiency may be associated with metaplastic changes in epithelial tissues, especially in GI, respiratory and urogenital tracts, and that these changes may later progress to neoplasia. Studies on experimental animals have indicated that such changes may even be reversed by natural and synthetic retinoids.

The association between vitamin A and epithelial cancer in man is also evident from the results of epidemiological studies. Studies of both dietary intake and serum levels have shown an inverse relationship between vitamin A and the incidence of cancer, thus, implicating the significance of vitamin A status in the prediction of cancer risk. A majority of the studies reported in the literature have been concerned with cancer of the lung. Reports on human subjects with colorectal cancer alone are scanty. However, experimental studies with animals have revealed an increased incidence of dimethylhydrazine (DMH)-induced colon carcinoma

in rats deficient in vitamin A (Newberne et al., 1973b), and that a marginal dietary level of vitamin A not only enhanced liver cancer in rats exposed to aflatoxin B_1 but resulted in a 29% incidence of colon cancer as well (Newberne & Rogers, 1973a). In view of the fact that colorectal cancer is a disease which has a high incidence in the humans, as well as a poor survival rate, it is of paramount importance that the relationship between vitamin A and colorectal cancer be studied.

The present study was undertaken to investigate the plasma levels of vitamin A and the factors involved in its metabolism in patients with colorectal cancer who appeared to be disease-free after surgery.

Chapter 2

METHODOLOGY

2.1 INTRODUCTION

In Canada, the incidence of gastrointestinal (GI) malignancy is second only to skin cancer, and the mortality rate is second only to cancer of the lung. Overall it is the second most fatal cancer for men and women, and it has been estimated that, each year, about 15,400 Canadians will be afflicted with this malignancy (Lim, 1979). By far the most common GI malignancy is colorectal carcinoma which accounts for over 52% of the new cases. Only 41% of all detected colorectal cancers are in a localized stage, i.e. without nodal involvement. The five-year survival for localized colorectal carcinoma is over 70% versus 40% for advanced lesions. (ACS, 1975).

The average incidence rate for colorectal cancer for 1976-1980 in Alberta was 31.2 and 30.5/100,000 for men and women, respectively. The average mortality rate was 15.8 and 16.1 for men and women, respectively (PCHB, 1981a). In 1980 alone, 256 new cases and 131 deaths for rectal cancer and 417 new cases and 202 deaths for colon cancer were reported out of a population of 2.14 million (Fig. 2.1) (PCHB, 1981b). Thus about 50% of those developing colorectal cancer will die of it. Most of these deaths occurred in patients with bowel plus regional node involvement and/or metastastic spread (Carter, 1976).

(_

ALBERTA FEMALES 1979 & 1980 • 10 MOST COMMON SITES



. 7 . .

Fig. 2.1 NO. OF NEW CASES AND DEAT OF COLORECTAL CANCER*, 1979-1980. (With permission from Provincial Cancer Hospitals Board.) A 10-year follow-up of 487 cases of colorectal cancer at the W. W. Cross Cancer Institute (WWCCI) in Edmonton, Alberta showed an over-all five-year survival of 35% (McCarten, 1973). Accordingly, with this dismal survival figure, an ongoing randomized, prospective surgical adjuvant GI trial involving Dukes' B2 and C colorectal carcinoma and gastric carcinoma was initiated in 1976 at the WWCCI. Patients entering into this trial were randomly assigned into one of the three groups, namely :

1. control, i.e. receiving no adjuvant treatment,

2. immunotherapy (BCG),

3. chemo-immunotherapy (MeCCNU, 5-Fu, BCG).

All patients considered for the study were entered as randomized only if informed consent was given. Patients were ineligible if they had had pre-operative radiotherapy, chemotherapy or immunotherapy within the previous year. The main assessment of the trial is survival which will be calculated for each patient allocated from the date of definite resection.

The present study was an integral part of the WWCCI trial. The main objective of the study was to focus on the relationship between vitamin A and the recurrence of colorectal cancer. The hypothesis to be tested was whether lower plasma vitamin A is associated with increased risk of cancer recurrence. In addition to vitamin A per se, RBP, cholesterol, cortisol and proteins were measured. The rationale for the inclusion of these parameters is outlined

below : -

The plasma levels of vitamin A may be affected by the concentration of the circulating carrier protein. Vitamin A is transported in the blood associated with a specific protein, RBP which is in turn bound to prealbumin and circulates as a 1:1 molar complex. It is possible, therefore, that low circulating levels of the vitamin could be due to a decreased availability of the carrier protein.

The absorption of vitamin A and its precursors may be affected by impaired fat absorption from the gut. Since cholesterol is also a fat soluble substance, the measurement of this parameter may provide some hints as to the efficiency of absorption of this vitamin. Moreover, current theories regarding cancer causation have generated interest in plasma cholesterol levels as potential causal factors in the genesis of colon cancer. Recently, the relationship between cholesterol and cancer has become both acute and controversial. Some investigators reported a significant link between low cholesterol levels and subsequent cancer (Rose et al., 1974; Williams et al., 1981; Peterson et al., 1981; Kagan et al, 1981; Garcia-Palmieri et al., 1981) while others have not found such an association (Dyer et al., 1981; Kozarevic et al., 1981; Thomas et al., 1982). Most of these reports have come from studies originally designed to identify factors which precede the appearance of coronary heart disease. Therefore, the measurement of plasma cholesterol in this study may add more information to this

controversial issue.

Stress is known to increase the vitamin A requirement by increasing its degradation mediated by the secretion of adrenocorticotrophic h none (ACTH) which is antagonistic to vitamin A. The presence of tumor cells could be considered as a state of stress, which may lead to the outpouring of ACTH, this may in turn cause a loss of vitamin A by favouring its elimination from the body.

Various studies have indicated that depressed plasma vitamin A levels may be associated with protein deficiency. Several workers have demonstrated a decrease in plasma vitamin A levels in children with protein-calorie malnutrition (Smith et al., 1973a; Ingenbleek et al., 1975). Moreover, supplying calories and protein without supplemental vitamin A resulted in a clinical cure of the vitamin A deficiency symptoms and a significant rise in vitamin A in the blood (Smith et al., 1973a). Malnutrition is often seen in patients with advanced malignant disease (Theologides, 1977), therefore, it is possible that the decreased vitamin A levels may be a manifestation of generalized nutritional deficiency and not merely a deficiency of vitamin A.

A classical cohort study in which plasma vitamin A / levels were examined in the total population and followed them in a prospective fashion for the development of cancer would be desirable. However, such a design would be expensive and lengthy. Therefore, the present study

26 े

addressed the question more economically by using patients already being followed as part of a clinical trial.

2.2 STUDY POPULATION

2.2.1 Patients

A total number of 103 patients who were on the control arm of the WWCCI surgical adjuvant GI trial was assigned to this study. They were admitted to the WWCCI between February, 1976 and January, 1982. All these patients had pr/eviously undergone curative resections of histologically proven colonic and rectal adenocarcinomas. Sixty-six patients had Dukes' B2 tumor and 37 hac Dukes'C tumor. Surgical-pathologic staging, based on the depth of penetration of carcinoma of the colon or rectum; conformed to a modification of Dukes' Classification (1932) : a Dukes' B2 tumor involves the full thickness of the bowel wall but no nodal involvement, and a Dukes' C tumor has regional lymph-node metastases. At the time of diagnosis and surgery, the mean age of the entire group was 62.6 ± 1.3 years, with a range between 23 and 80 years. Ninety-eight and one-tenth percent of the patients were over 40 and 1.9 percent below 40 years. Fifty-four of them were men and 49 were females, with a male : female ratio of 1.1. : 1 (Table 2.1).

TABLE 2.1 AGE AND SEX DISTRIBUTION OF THE STUDY POPULATION.

M/F RATIO* 1.6.0 1.1 : 1 1.1 : 1 1.2 : 1 NO OF FEMALES (62.7 ± 1.8) (60.6 ± 2.0) (61.9 ± 1.5) (45.1 ± 2.0) 90 0 49 Ē . . (63.3 ± 1.2) (47.8 ± 1.9) (62.3 ± 1.3) (65.4 ± 2.5) NO OF MALES 35 a . 36 54 18 \$ • (46.5 ± 1.4) (62.6 ± 1.3) (62.4 ± 1.2) (62.9 ± 1.6) AGE RANGE (Years) 39 - 80 23 - 80 23 - 65 23 - 80 • COLORECTAL B2 + C (n=103) COLORECTAL B2 (n=66) COLORECTAL C (n=37) CONTROLS (n=65) GROUPS .

Mean age ± SEM in brackets. *Male/Female ratio.

:

2.2.2 Controls

Sixty-five apparently healthy subjects who were Red Cross blood donors from various locations in Northern Alberta (both urban and rural) formed the basis of the controls of this study. Their mean age was 46.5 ± 1.4 years, with a range between 23 and 65 years. Seventy-two and three-tenths percent of the controls were over 40 years and 27.7 percent below 40. Thirty-four were men and 31 were females, with a male : female ratio of 1.1 : 1 (Table 2.1).

One may argue that a better set of controls would be patients without malignant disease who had undergone large bowel surgery. However, the surgical operation itself may leave the patients with a reduced capacity to absorb nutrients. This would make the evaluation of the results difficult, therefore, healthy subjects were used as controls. Although such subjects were not an ideal "control" group, their biochemical values provided normal values for comparison with the results from the cancer patients since the same methods were employed in determining the various indices for both groups.

2.3 BIOCHEMICAL MEASUREMENTS

All biochemical measurements were performed blind, i.e. the classification of the patients and their clinical characteristics were not made known during this phase of the study.

2.3.1 Sample Collection

Non-fasting blood samples (10 ml heparinized blood from each patient or donor) which were drawn at 10.00 a.m. everyday, were collected from the WWCCI Clinic and the Red Cross Blood Transfusion Clinic from October, 1981 to February, 1982. The collection tubes were wrapped with foil during transportation from the clinics to the laboratory ζ thus minimizing the loss of vitamin A , since this vitamin is extremely sensitive to and will be destroyed by light. The tubes were centrifuged at 2,000 rpm for 10 minutes in a Sorvall Superspeed RC 2-B Automatic Refrigerated Centrifuge. Plasma samples were separated and stored in tubes, wrapped with foil at -35°C until analysed. The analyses for vitamin A and other biochemical parameters were carried out six months to one year after the collection of the samples.

The effect of long-term storage on vitamin A constancy and estimation is definitely of great concern since repeated freezing and thawing may possibly affect plasma vitamin A levels. One study showed that after 4 1/2 months of storage at -20°C there was no significant change in vitamin A content (Bessey et al., 1949). More recently, the study of Kark et al. (1981), using the Evans County sera which had been stored for a period of 14 - 16 years, indicated that repeated thawing and refreezing had no recognizable affect on vitamin A content. 2.3.2 Determination Of Plasma Vitamin A

12

Vitamin A was determined by a modification of the fluorometric method of Hansen and Warwick (1969). They measured the fluorescence of vitamin A at an excitation wavelength of 340 nm and an emission wavelength of 480 nm. However, there was considerable interference from carotenoids at this wavelength (Thompson et al., 1973; Steveninck & de Goeij, 1973). Steveninck and de Goeij suggested the measurement of fluorescence at an emission wavelength of 550 nm, where interference from carotenoids is virtually zero. Therefore, the fluorescence in this study was measured accordingly at an emission wavelength of 550 The intensity of fluorescence increased linearly with nm. concentration (Fig. 2.2) and there was no interference from carotenoids.

All the preparation and measuring procedures were performed in dim light since vitamin A is sensitive to light at certain wavelengths (Bessey et al., 1946).

All-trans retinyl acetate (Sigma) in absolute ethanol was used as the standard for vitamin A (range : 0.5 - 2.0 mcg/ml). The acetate form was used because of its greater stability and comparable fluorescence with vitamin A alcohol (Hansen & Warwick, 1969).

Aliquots (0.2 ml) of plasma were pipetted into 15 ml Sovril tubes fitted with teflon lined screw caps. The same volumes of distilled water or standard were used instead of plasma in the blank and the standard, respectively. One



Concentration Of Vitamin A Standard (mcg/ml)

Fig. 2.2 STANDARD CURVE FOR VITAMIN A DETERMINATION

milliliter of distilled water was added to each tube and mixed and 2.0 ml of absolute ethanol was added slowly, with mixing, to precipitate proteins. Five milliliters of High Pressure Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) grade hexane was then added. The tubes were capped and mixed for 30 seconds on a vortex mixer to ensure complete extraction of vitamin A from the aqueous ethanolic phase to the hexane layer. The tubes were then centrifuged at 2,500 rpm for 5 minutes. The upper hexane layer was removed and transferred into a fluorometric cell by using a Pasteur pipette and its fluorescence was measured in a Perkin Elmer 650-10S Fluorescence Spectrophotometer.

All plasma samples were measured in triplicate and the average reading was used to calculate the plasma vitamin A (retinol) content using a conversion factor of 0.3/0.344 since retinyl acetate was used as the standard in the analyses. Plasma samples were divided into 27 batches, 8 samples in each of the first 23 batches and 9 samples in each of the last 4 batches. Two batches were run on each day, except for the last day when only 1 batch was run. A standard (1 mcg/ml) and a blank were included in each run.

2.3.3 Determination Of Plasma Cholesterol

The method of Watson (1960) was employed in the determination of plasma cholesterol. This procedure is a colorimetric assay in which the reagent 2,5-dimethylbenzene sulphonic acid replaces p-toluene sulphonic acid in the

method of Pearson et al. (1953). All reagents used were of analytical grade. Pure cholesterol (Kodak) dissolved in glacial acetic acid was used as the standard (range : 1 - 4mg/ml). The intensity of the absorbance increased linearly with concentration (Fig. 2.3).

Aliquots of 0.1 ml of plasma were placed into tubes of approximately 2 cm diameter in order to facilitate mixing, 0.1 ml of distilled water and standard (4 mg/ml) were also set up for the blank and standard respectively. One-tenth of a milliliter of glacial acetic acid was added to the plasma and the blank, but 0.1 ml of distilled water was added to the standard instead. Two and a half milliliters of reagent mixture (3 volumes of acetic anhydride with 1 volume of the 2,5-dimethylbenzene sulphonic acid solution and 1 volume of glacial acetic acid) was added to each tube and mixed with a vortex mixer. Each tube was allowed to cool for 10 - 15 minutes. Three-tenths of a milliliter of sulphuric acid was then added to each tube and the contents were agitated immediately until all precipitates had completely dissolved. , The tubes were allowed to stand in the dark for color development. The optical density of each sample was measured against the blank exactly 20 minutes after the addition of sulphuric acid using a UNICAM SP1800 Spectrophotometer.

The samples were divided into 22 batches, 10 samples in each batch and 2 batches were run on every single day, a blank and a standard were included for each run to check for



Concentration Of Cholesterol Standard (mg/ml)

Fig. 2.3 STANDARD CURVE FOR CHOLESTEROL DETERMINATION

the daily variation and the stability of the machine. All samples were measured in duplicate and an average reading was used in the calculation of the amount of cholesterol in the plasma.

2.3.4 Plasma Cortisol Determination

Mattingly's method (1962) was employed for the determination of plasma cortisol. Free and protein-bound corticosteroids were extracted from the plasma with methylene chloride. The organic extract was shaken with a sulphuric acid-ethanol reagent. After removing the supernatant dichloromethane, the resulting fluorescence of the acid was compared with that of a known concentration of cortisol treated in the same manner. Maximum fluorescence of corticosteroids is produced by excitation at 475 nm and maximum emission of fluorescence occurs at 530 nm.

High pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) grade methylene chloride was used instead of the BDH grade as suggested by Mattingly since the latter needs repurification before use and the steps are tedious and time consuming. Fluorescence reagent was prepared by adding 7 volumes of concentrated sulphuric acid to 3 volumes of absolute ethanol in a flask which was kept cold in iced water. Cortisol standard was prepared by dissolving 50 mg corticosterone (Sigma) in 50 ml absolute ethanol. One milliliter of this solution was diluted to 100 mk with distilled water (10 mcg/ml). These solutions were kept at 4°C and remained stable for months. A range of standards (1 + 5 mcg/ml) was prepared from the 10 mcg/ml solution, the intensity of fluorescence increased linearly with concentration (Fig. 2.4).

All glassware was washed with chromic acid, followed by thorough rinsing with tap water and finally with distilled water.

To an aliquot (0.2 ml) of plasma in a 15 ml Sovril tube, 1 ml of distilled water and 4 ml of methylene chloride were added. A reagent blank and a standard containing distilled water and corticosterone respectively were carried through the procedure. All the tubes were stoppered and shaken very gently by hand for 10 minutes. The tubes were then centrifuged for 2 minutes at 2,000 rpm and the supernatant plasma was removed by suction. An aliquot (3 ml) of the methylene chloride extract was transferred to a stoppered tube. At zero time, 1.5 ml fluorescence reagent was added to the blank and mixed vigorously for 20 minutes on a vortex mixor. This procedure was repeated by adding the fluorescence reagent at one minute intervals to the standard and the extracts of plasma. The methylene chloride layer was sucked off from each tube in turn, starting with the blank. The fluorescence of each solution was measured at exactly 15 minutes after mixing with the fluorescence reagent in a Perkin-Elmer 650-105 Fluorescence Spectrophotometer.



Concentration Of Cortisol Standard (mcg/ml)

Fig. 2.4 STANDARD CURVE FOR CORTISOL DETERMINATION

The samples were divided into 55 batches. Fluorometry was performed in batches of not more than 4 samples (in duplicates), a blank and a standard (1 mcg/ml) since timing is very important to keep the non-specific fluorescence as low and as uniform as possible.

2.3.5 Determination Of Total Proteins In The Plasma

822

Total plasma proteins were determined by the method of Gornall etgal. by means of the Biuret reaction. This reaction is based on the principle that the protein of the plasma will react with an alkaline solution of cupric ions and the intensity of the purple color produced is proportional to the amount of protein present in the plasma (Fig. 2.5).

Standard protein solution (Sigma) was used as the standard and Biuret reagent (containing 0.15 percent copper sulphate, 0.6 percent sodium potassium tartrate and 3 percent sodium hydroxide) was prepared as suggested by Gornall.

Aliquots of 0.1 ml of plasma were pipetted into 15 ml test tubes. The same volume of standard and 0.9 percent saline as plasma were used, in the standard or blank, respectively. Two milliliters of saline and 0.8 ml of Biuret reagent were added, to each tube and mixed with a vortex mixer. The tubes were allowed to stand at room temperature for 30 minutes. All samples were measured in duplicate. A blank and standard (6 g/dl) were included in



Concentration Of Protein Standard (g/dl)

Tig 1.5 STANDARD CURVE FOR THE DETERMINATION OF TOTAL PROTEINS

ŝ.

each run.

Absorbance was measured at 550 nm using the UNICAM SP1800 Spectrophotometer.

2.3.6 Plasma Albumin Determination

The method of Doumas et al. (1971) was employed for the determination of plasma albumin. This is a fast and reliable method using a dye-binding technique. The dye used was Bromcresol Green. The absorbance-concentration relationship is linear for samples containing up to 6 g/dl (Fig. 2.6). Bovine standard albumin, fraction V (Sigma) was used as the standard.

An aliquot of 25 mcl of plasma was added to a 15 ml test tube, 5 ml of working dye solution was then added and mixed on a vortex mixer. A reagent blank and a standard containing water and albumin standard (6 g/dl), respectively, were included in each run.

The absorbance was measured at 628 nm in a UNICAM SP1800 Spectrophotometer. The concentration of the plasma albumin was calculated from the average reading of the duplicate samples.

2.3.7 Plasma Globulin Determination

The globulin concentration in the plasma was obtained from the difference between total protein and albumin concentration.



Concentration Of Albumin Standard (g/di)

Fig. 2.6 STANDARD CURVE FOR ALBUMIN DETERMINATION

42

₩.>.

2.3.8 Determination Of Retinol-binding Proteins In the Plasma

The single radial immunodiffusion technique (Mancini et al., 1965) was used in the determination of retinol-binding protein. Standardized and stabilized human serum (Behring Diagnostics) with known protein concentration was used as the standard and for the construction of a standard curve from which the protein concentration of the plasma samples were obtained. (Fig. 2.7) Physiological saline (0.9%) was used for dilution of the standard serum solution and the samples.

LC-partigen immunodiffusion plates (Behring Diagnostics) were used for the assay. The plates contained 12 wells. Aliquots (20 ml) of standards (range 1:1, 1:1.5, 1:2, 1:4) were placed into the first 4 wells, whereas the same volume of diluted plasma (1:4) was placed into the remaining wells using an Eppendorf micropipette. The plates were allowed to stand for 10 - 20 minutes, then closed and incubated for 72 hours at room temperature.

The diameters of the precipitation rings were measured in a measuring viewer made by Behring Company. The concentration of retinol-binding protein in the test sample was obtained directly from the plot of the square of the diameter on the standard curve.



STANDARD CURVE FOR THE DETERMINATION OF RETINOL-BINDING PROTEIN

2.3.9 Statistical Analyses

Means, standard deviations and standard error of the means were determined for patients and controls, and for males and demales within each group. One-way analysis of variance was used to determine the significant differences between the means of the different groups for each of the variables. The Student-t test was used to determine if there was a significant difference between the means of any two groups. A pairwise t-test was used to identify any significant change between the first and second samples for patients who had serial samples. Pearson Correlation Coefficients (r) relating the variables to each other were determined. The proportion of survival was derived from the Life-table using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (Nie et al., 1975).

Chapter 3

RESULTS

The results are presented in several sub-sections : a) controls, the effect of age and sex on plasma vitamin A and its related factors; b) controls versus patients, with regard to the biochemical parameters such as vitamin A and RBP, cholesterol and cortisol, protein, albumin and globulin; c) patients, those who remained disease-free versus those who had a subsequent recurrence, the effect of site of tumor and the effect of time lapse in between blood sample collection after surgery on vitamin A and its associated factors.

3.1 Controls

The age- and sex-specific changes in plasma vitamin A and the factors involved in its metabolism (i.e., RBP, cortisol and cholesterol) in the control subjects (34 males + 31 females) are shown in Table 3.1. Both male and female subjects were divided into two groups - less than 50 years of age and greater than 50. The rationale for choosing these two age groups was that during the menopausal age, the hormonal differences may have an influence on the biochemical indices which may be different from those of the pre-menopausal age. Statistical analysis (Student t-test) revealed that plasma vitamin A values were not significantly different between the two sexes in either of the age groups (<50, p=0.93; >50, p=0.59; all ages, p=0.86).

| cTS. | |
|---|--|
| SUBJE | |
| CONTROL | |
| NI | |
| FACTORS | |
| RELATED | |
| ITS | |
| AND | |
| A | |
| VITAMIN | |
| PLASMA | |
| NO | |
| SEX | |
| AND | |
| AGE | |
| ΟF | |
| <u>1</u> EFFECT DF AGE AND SEX ON PLASMA VITAMIN A AND ITS RELATED FACTORS IN CONFROL SUBJECTS. | |
| TABLE 3.1 | |

.

.

| AGE GROUPS | VITAMIN A (mcg/d1) | CHOLESTEROL (mg/d1) | CORTISOL (mcg/d1) | RETINOL-BINDING PROTEIN (mg∕d1) |
|--|----------------------------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| <50 MALES (n=18) FEMALES (n=21) SIGNIFICANCE | 76.1 ± 6.5 63.9 ± 4.5 N.S. | 215.9 ± 12.8 223.7 ± 11.8 N.S. | 8.5 ± 0.9 7.5 ± 0.8 7.5 | 6.2 ± 0.5 4.1 ± 0.4 <0.01 |
| >50 MALES (n=16) FEMALES (n=10) SIGNIFICANCE | 60.5 ± 7.0 58.1 ± 7.7 N.S. | 255.8 ± 13.3 210.7 ± 16.8 <0.05 | 9.0 ± 1.0 7.3 ± 1.0 N.S. | 7.3 ± 0.6 5.6 ±0.7 0.05 |
| All Ages MALES (n=34) FEMALES (n=31) SIGNIFICANCE | 68.8 ± 4.9 62.0 ± 3.9 N.S. | 234.7 ± 9.7 219.5 ± 9.8 N.S. | 8.8 ± 0.6 7.5 ± 0.7 N.S. | 6.8 ± 0.4 4.6 ± 0.4 <0.01 |

Each value represents the mean \pm SEM for the number of subjects shown in parenthesis. N.S.=Not significant.

ł

,

47

,

Plasma cortisol had the same trend as vitamin A. Like vitamin A and cortisol, the plasma cholesterol level was not subjected to sex variation before 50 years of age, however, the sex variation was noted in those who were more than 50 years old. The male subjects appeared to have a significantly higher cholesterol level than that of the females. It is interesting to note that the RBP values were found to be consistently and significantly higher in male than in female subjects in both age groups. The difference being more marked in the younger age group.

Among all the biochemical indices measured, only plasma RBP indicated a significant sex difference when both age groups were combined.

3.2 Controls VS Patients

3.2.1 Plasma Vitamin A And RBP In Control Subjects And Postoperative Colorectal Cancer Patients

Since the plasma values of the biochemical indices for the control subjects listed in Table 3.1 were not found to be subjected to age and sex variations, with the exception of RBP, subjects were combined together irrespective of age and sex, and used as "controls" for the cancer patients. Table 3.2 shows the mean differences in plasma vitamin A and RBP between control subjects and the postoperative colorectal cancer patients who appeared to be ' disease-free. Both groups (B2 & C) of disease-free cancer patients were found to be associated with not only subnormal plasma vitamin A levels (p<0.001), but also lower RBP levels (P<0.01) than the control subjects. Relative to the magnitude of its mean value, vitamin A was substantially lower than RBP in both groups (B2 & C) of patients. But RBP values were more negative in the C group than the B2 group. Statistical difference of the RBP levels between control subjects and the patients with 'C' type colorectal cancer was found to be between controls patients with 'B2' type cancer.

3.2.2 Plasma Cholesterol And Cortisol Levels In Control Subjects And Postoperative Colorectal Cancer Patients Cholesterol and cortisol differences between controls and patients are shown in Table 3.3. Dukes' B2 patients had a mean cholesterol 38.3 mg/dl higher than the controls (p<0.05) while the difference between the Dukes' C patients and the controls was not significant (p=0.10). Plasma cortisol levels were not significantly different between the controls and the patients.

3.2.3 Plasma Protein, Albumin And Globulin Levels In Control Subjects And Postoperative Colorectal Cancer Patients

The plasma concentrations of total protein in the control subjects were significantly higher (p<0.001) than those of the cancer patients (Table 3.4). The albumin/globulin ratio, however, remained unaffected.

TABLE 3.2 PLASMA VITAMIN A AND RBP LEVELS IN CONTROL SUBJECTS AND POSTOPERATIVE COLORECTAL CANCER PATIENTS.

r

•

•

्री .

• 0

9

,

| GROUPS | VITAMIN A (mcg/dl) | RETINOL-BINDING PROTEIN (mg/d1) | g |
|---|---|---------------------------------------|----------------|
| CONTROLS (n=65) | 65.3 ± 3.2 | 57±03 | |
| COLORECTAL B2 (n=66) | 43.5 ± 1.8' | 5.0±0.3 | |
| COLORECTAL C (n=37) | 43.1 ± 2.9¹ | 9 .8 ± 0.4 | |
| COLORECTAL B2 + C (n=103) | 43.4 ± 1.61 | 4.6 ± 0.3 | |
| | | | |
| Each value is the mean \pm SEM for the number of subjects shown in parenthesis. ¹ Significantly different from the controls, p<0.001 ² Significantly different from the controls, p<0.01. ³ Significant difference betweeen colorectal B2 and C patients, p=0.01. | of subjects shown in parenthesis. p<0.001 p<0.01. B2 and C patients, p=0.01. | : | • • • • • • |
| | | , , , , | |

f

50

.

Í

ŝ

÷

ξ. . N

PLASMA CHOLESTEROL AND CORTISOL LEVELS IN CONTROL SUBJECTS AND POSTOPERATIVE COLORECTAL CANCER PATIENTS. TABLE 3.3

5

~

 \mathbf{z}_i

| | CHOLESTEROL (mg/d1) | (mcg/d1) |
|------------------------------|------------------------|--------------|
| controls (n=65) | 227:5 ± 6.4 | 8 ÷ ± 0.5 |
| COLORECTAL B2 (n=66) v | 265.8 ± 6.4¹ | 8.4 ± 0.5 |
| COLORECTAL C (n=37) | 248.3 ± 8.5 | 9.4 ± 0.6 |
| COLORECTAL B2 + C | 259.5 ± 4.8' | 8 8 ± 0.4 |

' Significantly different from the controls, p<0.05.

ð

 \odot 4,

> 5 ;

| | E COLORECTAL CANCED | |
|------------|---|----------|
|) | AND POSTOPERATIV | |
| | IN CONTROL SUBJECTS | PATIENTS |
| | IN. ALBUMIN AND GLOBULIN LEVELS IN CONTROL SUBJECTS AND POSTOPERATIVE COLORECTAL CANCED | Ρd |
| • | LASMA PROTEIN, ALBUMIN | |
| <u>,</u> * | TABLE 3.4 PLA | |

÷... 4

 $\mathfrak{q}\, \mathfrak{f}$

.....

.. ÷,

| | • | | | ····· |
|-------------------------|-------------------|------------|--------------------|-----------------|
| GROUPS | PRDTEIN (g/d1) | (ja/a) | (10/6) grobulin | 0 A/G RATIO* |
| conTroLS (n=65) | 7.3 ± 0.1 | 4.6 ± 0.1 | 2.8 ± 0.1 | - 0 + 1 0 |
| coLORECTAL B2 (n=66) | 6.7±0.1 | 4.1 ± 0.1' | 2.4 ± 0.1' | 1.7 ± 0.1 |
| соьокестаь с (n=37) | 6.5 ± 0.2' | 3.9 ± 0.1 | 2.6 ± 0.1 | 1.7 ± 0.2 |
| | | | | |

1.1

0.1

1.7 ±

1

| 여년 0KE CIAL B2 + C 6.4 ± 《해결 103) | 6.4±0.1 ¹ | 3.9 ± 0.1 | 2.5 ± 0.13 |
|--------------------------------------|----------------------|-----------|------------|
| • | | | |

*Albumin/Globulin ratio. Each value is the mean ± SEM for the number of subjects shown in parenthesis. ' Significantly different from the controls, p<0.001. ' Significantly different from the controls, p<0.01. ' Significantly different from the controls, p<0.05.

ч.,

1

~

ų:

15

3.3 Patients

3.3.1 Distribution Of Tumor Sites In The Postoperative Colorectal Cancer Patients

Table 3.5 shows the distribution of tumor sites in the patients before surgery. Tumors were located throughout the large bowel. Twelve and six-tenths percent (13/103 : 9 from B2, 4 from C) were in the cecum; 14.5 percent (15/103 : 11 from B2, 4 from C) in the ascending colon; 8.7 percent (9/103 :7 from B2, 2 from C) in the descending colon; 4.9 percent (5/103 : 3 from B2, 2 from C) in the transverse colon; 9.7 percent (10/103 : 6 from B2, 4 from C) in the flexures; 31.1 percent (32/103 : 16 from 32, 16 from C) in the recto-sigmoid; and 18.5 percent (19/103 : 14 from B2, 5 from C) from the rectum.

Due to the small number of cancer sites, subjects were grouped together in the following order : cecum, ascending and descending colon, hepatic and splenic flexures were grouped under colon; sigmoid and recto-sigmoid were grouped under recto-sigmoid; and rectum by itself as a group.

3.3.2 Effects Of Tumor Sites On Plasma Vitamin A And Its Related Factors

Table 3.6 shows that the differences between the cancer sites for all the measured biochemical indices were not significant (vitamin A, p=0.81; RBP, p=0.43; cholesterol, p=0.61; cortisol, p=0.24; albumin, p=0.29; globulin, p=0.24)

| > | DUKES' B2 + C % | 12.6 | 14. J | 8 | 4.0, | ۲.6 | 31.1 | 18.5 | 100 | ••• •• |
|--|------------------------|--------|--------------------|------------------------|---------------------|----------|-------------------|--------|-------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| ENTS BEFORE SURGERY. | 201 | 3 | 15 | O | ى ب | 0 | 32 | ი | E OT | · · · 2 |
| TION OF TUMOR SITES IN THE CANGER PATIENTS | n n koukes c. k. k. | 8 0 | | υ | 5.4 | 10.8 | 16 43.3 | 13.5 | 37 100 | |
| UTION OF TUMOR SITES | % | 13.6 | 16.7 | 10.6 | 4.6 | ∽. | 24.2 | 21.2 | 100 200 | 500 500 1 |
| <u>TABLE 3.5</u> DISTRIBU | DUKES' 82 | O) | Ŧ | 4 | C C C | | 16 | 4 7 | 6 - 6 9 - 6 9 - 6 | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |
| | ¢ SITE OF TUMOR | cecum | ASCENDING COLON | DE SCEND I NG Colon | TRANSVERSE COLON | FLEXURES | kecto- SIGMOID | RECTUM | TOTAL | |

B

4 D

4

. Io

. .

as determined by one-way analysis of variance.

3.3.3 Effects of Time In Blood Sample Collection Following

Surgery On Plasma Vitamin A And Its Related Factors In Cancer Patients

Patients were grouped regether by period interval from the date of surgery to the date of blood sample collection (Table 3.7) The shortest interval (< 2 months) was associated with the lowest average mean of plasma vitamin A level, while during the period of 6 - 12 months following surgery, the average mean values of plasma vitamin A, RBP, cholesterol and cortisol were found to be at their maximum levels. Analysis of variance, however, revealed no overall significant difference in these biochemical indices including albumin and globulin between the various intervals of time (vitamin A, p=0.45; RBP, p=0.43; cholesterol, p=0.23; cortisol, p=0.13; protein, p=0.14; albumin, p=0.55; globulin, p=0.07).

3.3.4 Follow-up Studies On Patients With Serial Samples

Of the 103 patients, 40 had serial samples taken at two different periods of time. The time interval between the first and second samples ranged from less than one month to four months with an average time difference of 2.6 months. The results are presented in Table 3.8. No significant differences in plasma concentrations of vitamin A, RBP, choleSterol, cortisol, albumin and globulin were observed
EFFECTS OF TUMOR SITES ON PLASMA LEVELS OF VITAMIN A. RBP. CHOLESTEROL. CORTISOL AND PROTEINS. .. TABLE 3.6

| 0 33113 GOMIT | | | | | | |
|----------------------------|------------|-----------|------------------------|----------------------|-------------------|--------------------------------------|
| DUKE'S STAGE | (mcg/d1) | (1b/gm) | CHULESIERUL (mg/dl) | CORTISOL (mcg/dl) | ALBUMIN (g/d1) | ° GLOBULIN (g/d1) |
| COLON* B2 | 42.0 ± 2.5 | 4.9 ± 0.4 | 265.8 ± 10.8 | 8.9 ± 0.8 | 3.7 ± 0.2 | 2.4 ± 0.1 |
| (n=36) C (n=16) | 40.1 ± 4.0 | 4.0 ± 0.6 | 236.4 ± 12.8 | 8.0±0.8 + | 4.2 ± 0.3 | 2.3 ± 0.2 |
| RECTO- | | | | - La | | |
| >1 GMULU 82 {n=16} | 44 0 ± 3 8 | 5.3 ± 0.7 | 263.6 ± 7.7 | 7.6 ± 0.8 | 4.1±0.2 | 2.7 ± 0.2 |
| c c (n=16) | 45.6 ± 4.8 | 3.8 ± 0.5 | 259.4 ± 13.9 | 10.7 ± 1.4 | 3.7 ± 0.2 | 2.7 ± 0.1 |
| RECTUM B2 | 46.3 ± 3.7 | 5.1±0.5 | 268.2 ± 11.6 | 6 O 7 | . 4 . 1 ± 0.2 | 2 3 ± 0 2 |
| (nea4) C (n=5) | 46.1.± 8.8 | 3.3 ± 0.8 | 250.8 ± 10.1 | 9 9 9 9 | 4.0 ± 0.4 | +I |
| ANDVA SIGNI- ETCANCE | S Z | s z | . s v | s N | N.S. | |
| | r | 2 70 | e. e | | | |
| | | | | | | |

N.S.=Not significant.

ĉ

ç,

ÉFFECT OF TIME LAPSE IN BETWEEN BLOOD SAMPLE COLLECTION AND SURGERY ON PLASMA VITAMIN A AND ITS Related factors in colorectal cancer patients.

í.,

Э.7

TABLE

£,

,

---- ^

2

47

.

.

١

| TIME INTERVAL (MONTHS) | NO DF PATJENTS (n=103) | VITAMIN A (mcg/dl) | RBP (mg/dl) | CHOLESTEROL (mg/d1) | CORTISOL (mcg/d1) | ALBUMIN (g/d1) | (1p/6) Crobnriv |
|------------------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------|----------------|------------------------|----------------------|-------------------|--------------------|
| 3 | 25 | 38.3 ± 2.6 | 4.1 ± 0.5 | 253.2 ± 8.6 | 9.8 ± 0.7 | 3.8 ± 0.1 | 2.7 ± 0.1 |
| - e | σ | 45,2 ± 7.3 | 3.7 ± 0.7 | 225.2 ± 18.3 | 9.3 ± 2.0 | 4.0 ± 0.4 | 2.7 ± 0.2 |
| | 12 | 45.6 ± 4.9 | 5.9 ± 0.7 | 293.3 ± 15.4 | 10%4 ± 0.9 | 4 0 ± 0.2 | 2.1 ± 0.1 |
| 12 - 24 | 27 | 45.2 ± 2.8 | 4.6 ± 0.4 | 261.7 ± 8.9 | 7 20 + 0.4 | 4.0±0.2 | 2.5 ± 0.1 |
| > 2 4 | OE | 44.4 ± 3.1 | 4.7 ± 0.4 | 259.5 ± 8.4 | 8.4 ± 0.8 | 3.8 ± 0.2 | 2.4 ± 0.1 |
| ANDVA SIGNIFICANCE | · • | S Z | N.S. | • S Z | . s Z | 2 .S. | s z |

۰,

Each value is the mean ± SEM for the number of patients. ANOVA=analysis of variance. N.S.=Not significant.

· /

 $\dot{\gamma}$

.

 \odot

57

ç

between the two periods of time. Although in the second sample, patients showed higher mean values of vitamin A and cholesterol (mean difference=7.5 mcg/dl and 6.9 mg/dl, respectively), the plasma RBP, cortisol and albumin levels appeared to be lower than those of the first sample, while the plasma globulin levels remained identical at both periods.

3.3.5 Plasma Vitamin A And Its Related Factors By Disease Status

In follow-up studies to date, of the 103 apparently disease-free colorectal cancer patients, a total of 12 subjects subsequently had a recurrence of the disease. Table 3.9 shows that patients with a recurrence had significantly lower plasma vitamin A levels than those who remained disease-free (p=0.05). The patients with subsequent cancer recurrence also showed lower RBP levels than those who remained disease-free. Though the difference was not found to be statistically significant, this may be due to the small sample size of the patients with recurrence.

Plasma cholesterol tended to be lower in recurrent than disease-free cases while cortisol revealed an opposite trend, those with cancer recurrence had higher cortisol values than those who remained disease-free. However, the differences were not statistically significant. Plasma protein, albumin and globulin levels were similar between

58

| VELS IN PATIENTS WITH SEPIAL | |
|---|---------|
| MA VITAMIN A, RBP, CHOLESTEROL, CORTISOL, ALBUMIN AND GLOBULIN LEVELS IN PATIFNTS WITH SEPTAU | SAMPLES |
| P, CHOLESTEROL, | • • |
| LASMA VITAMIN A, RB | • |
| TABLE 3.8 PI | |

-

đ

r

э

;

| | | | and Star Ma Ma | - | | |
|---------------------------------|-------------------|------------------|--|----------------------|----------------------|----------------------------|
| SAMPLES. | VITAMIN A | RBP (mg/dl) | CHOLESTEROL (mg/dl) | CORTISOL (mcg/d1) | ALBUMIN (g/d1) | (1P/6) crobnrin |
| SAMPLE 1 (n=40) | 42.4 ± 2.7 | 4 0 ++ 0 4 | 255, 1 ± 8.6 | 8.7 ± 0.6 | 1 0 1 6 E | 2.4 ± 0.1 |
| SAMPLE 2 (n=40) | 48 9 ± 2 9 ± 2 | 4.3 ± 0.3 | 26250 ± 9.4 | 8.1 ± 0.7 | 3.7 ± 0.1 | 2.4 ± 0.1 |
| T-TEST 2-TAIL PROBABILITY | | N 0 24 S 5 | N 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 | 0.47 N.S. | N . S 0 . 3 2 | 8 . 9 8 . 0 2 |

Each value is the mean ± SEM for the number of subjects shown in parenthesis. *Mean time interval between the first and second samples=2.6 months, time range=0.75 - 4.00 months. N.S.=Not significant. (ä.e. .

÷

Ş

59

÷.

¢

 ${\bf Q}$

1

/

| NING DISEASE-FREE AND IN PATIENTS V SURGERY. CORTISOL ALBUMIN | - | 10.1 ± 1.1 4.1 ± 0.3 2.4 ± 0. | N.S. N.S. N.S. | | |
|--|------------------------|-------------------------------|----------------|-----------------------|--|
| ORS IN PATIENTS REMA RECURRENCE FOLLOWING CHOLESTEROL | | 239.8 ± 16.1 | S Z | | |
| ITS RELATED FACT SUBSEQUENT | (ing/di) 4.6±0.3 | 3.7 ± 0.4 | А. S. | •, | |
| Ð | 44.5 ± 1.6 | 35.1 ± 5.2 | 0.05 | t B | |
| TABLE 3.9 PLASM GROUPS | DISEASE-FREE (n=91) | RECURRENCE (n=12) | SIGNIFICANCE | N.S.=Not significant. | |

-

60 đ

the two groups.

S.

When the subsequent recurrent cases were removed from the total of 103 patients who were thought to be free from colorectal cancer following surgery, the results of the comparison of the plasma levels of various biochemical indices related to vitamin A of these remaining disease-free patients with those of the control subjects are shown in Table 3.10. The patterns for the various parameters remained the same as those shown in Table 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4 when the recurrent cases were included. Analysis of variance indicated that all biochemical measurements (except cortisol) were significantly different between control subjects and the apparently disease-free postoperative colorectal cancer patients. Thus, the plasma vitami A and RBP were lower in patients than in controls (p<0.001; p=0.001) while plasma cholesterol was higher in patients than in controls (p<0.05). Plasma protein, albumin and globulin were consistently lower (p<0.001) in patients than in controls.

3

It was interesting to note that both plasma concentrations of vitamin A and RBP were very low in the two patients who died of the disease during this study. The plasma vitamin A values of these two patients were found to be only 19.32 mcg/dl and 18.86 mcg/dl, and plasma RBP values were 2.40 mg/dl and 1.68 mg/dl, respectively (Table 3.11).

PLASMA¹VITAMIN A AND ITS RELATED FACTORS IN CONTROL SUBJECTS AND APPARENTLY DISEASE-FREE POSTOPERATIVE COLORECTAL CANCER PATIENTS. 4 TABLE 3.10

.

| GROUPS | VITAMIN A (mcg/d1) | RBP (1b/gm) | CHOLESTEROL | CORTISOL (mcg/dil) | PROTEIN (g/d1) | (15/6) Albumin | (LP/6) Crobalin | |
|--|---|---|---|-----------------------|------------------------|-------------------|---------------------|---|
| CONTROLS (65) | 65.3 ± 3.2 | 5.7±0.3 | 227.5 ± 6.4 | 8.1 ± 0.5 | 7.3 ± 0.1 | 4.6 ± 0.1 | 2.8 ± 0.1 | |
| COLORECTAL B2 (60) | 44.3 ± 1.9 ¹ | 5.1±0.3 | 267.5 ± 6.2' | 8.3 ± 0.5 | 6.3 ± 0.1 ¹ | 3.9 ± 0.1 | 2.4 ± 0.1 | |
| COLORECTAL C (31) | 44 7 8' | 3.6 ± 0.4' | 251.5 ± 8.2' | 9.2 ± 0.8 | 6.4 ± 0.1 | 3.8 ± 0.2' | 2.6 ± 0.1 | |
| COLORECTAL B2 +.C (91) | 44.5 ± 1.6' | 4.6±0.3 | 262.1 ± 5.0¹ | 8.6 ± 0.4 | 6.4 ±0.1 | 3.9 ± 0.1 | 2.5 ± 0.13 | |
| ANDVA SIGNIFICANCE | ¢0.00 | 0.00 | <0.05 | s z | <0:001 | <0.001 | • • • • • | • |
| Each value is the mean ± 'Significantly different 'Significantly different 'Significantly different ANOVA=analysis of varianc N.S.=Not significant. | the mean ± different different different of varianc icant. | SEM for the number from the controls, from the controls, from the controls, ce. | of subjects shown in parenthesis p<0.001. p<0.05. | n In parenthe | ν. | | | |
| - | | | | | | | | |

۰,

,

5

• :

۰.

62

.,

Ċ

CLINICAL AND PATHOLOGICALS CHARACTERISTICS OF PATIENTS WHO DIED OF THE DISEASE DURING THE STUDY 1 . .. TABLE 3.11

1

4

.

| | | , A |
|--|--------------------|-------------------------|
| (1¢/6) drognrin drognrin | 3.62 | 2.28 |
| ALBUMIN (g/d1) | 3.58 | 3.67 |
| CORTISOL ALBUMIN (mcg/d1) (g/d1) | 10.40 | 11.52 |
| CHOLE- STEROL (mg/d1) | 250 | 248 |
| RBP (fb/gm) | 2.40 | 1.68 |
| VITAMIN A (mcg/d1) | 19.32 | 18.86 |
| SURVIVAL FOLLOWING SURGERY (MONTHS) | œ. | α |
| PRIMARY SITE | SIGMOID COLON** | A SCEND . COL CN * * |
| STAGE OF DIGNOSIS | B2 | U |
| SEX | W | Σ |
| AGE | 68 | 78 |
| * СООЕ | 2001 | 2,104 |

*Patient's code no. **Metastasis to liver

Ĵ,

. ...,

63

ø

3.3.6 Disease-free Survival

Fig 3.1 shows the survival rate for all apparently disease-free patients included in this study. The survival rate was calculated from the date of surgery to either the date of cancer recurrence or death. Currently, 84 percent of the B2 and 64 percent of the C patients have survived. The mean disease-free survival for Dukes' B2 and Dukes' C patients was 41.1 months and 24.8 months, respectively. Pairwise comparison using the non-parametric test indicated that the disease-free survival rates between the two groups are significantly different (p=0.05).

3.4 Relationship Between Plasma Vitamin A, RBP, Cholesterol And Cortisol

The relationships between plasma vitamin A and RBP, cholesterol and cortisol are shown in Figures 3.2, 3.3. and 3.4.

Plasma vitamin A was significantly correlated with RBP for the control subjects (r=0.06, p=<0.05) but not for the postoperative colorectal cancer patients (r=0.18) (Fig. 3.2). However, the plasma vitamin A concentrations did not show any significant correlations with either cholesterol or cortisol; this pattern was consistent for both control subjects and patients (Fig. 3.3 & Fig. 3.4). Nonetheless, the control subjects tended to show a negative relationship between plasma vitamin A and cholesterol (r=-0.13) while patients indicated a negative relationship between plasma



Fig. 3.1 DISEASE-FREE SURVIVAL BY DUKES' STAGE

· .

3/

τ. ·

vitamin A and cortisol (r=-0.21).

ζσ.

°0*.

Vigi 67 1501 1251 Ο 0 O o Ο 3 1 0 CÍ. ρ 1001 mcg/ С O o O Plasma Vitamin A 751 1 O 00 O 1.9 00 O n 0 Ο 501 1 J 1 de. 251 1. 1 -1 01 ł 0.3 2 8 10 12 S ^{*}Plasma Retinol-Binding Protein (mq/d1)ŝ. Controls (n=65) 0 = = Postoperative colorecta. cancer patients (n=103)

> For controls : r=0.06, p=0.05 y=71.02 + 0.77x

For patients : r=0.18, p=N.S. 4

Fig. 3.2 RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PLASMA VITAMIN A AND RETINOL-BINDING PROTEIN IN CONTROL SUBJECTS AND POSTOPERATIVE COLORECTAL CANCER PATIENTS.

Plasma Cholesterol (mg/dl)

250

300

350

00

68

 \circ = Controls (n=65).

150

2

Ŷ

έ¥-

Plasma Vitamin A (mcg/d)

7 I

150† |

1251

1001

75 F

501

-100

★ = Postoperative colorectal cancer patients (n=103)

ŝ

00

n

0,0 0

0.0

000

Ø

Ο

O

O

For controls : r=-0.13, p=N.S. For patients : r=0.13, p=N.S.

Fig. 3.3 RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PLASMA VITAMIN A AND CHOLESTEROL IN CONTROL SUBJECTS AND POSTOPERATIVE COLORECTAL CANCER PATIENTS.

<u>Plasma Cortisol (mcg/dl)</u>

69

O = Controls (n=65)

5

1501

1251

1001

751

 \bar{C}_{2}

501

ġľė;

mc a/

asma Vitamin A

= Postoperative colorectal cancer patients (n=103)

10

For controls : r=0.34, p=N.S. For patients : r=-0.21, p=N.S.

ő

Ο

Ö

. a oa

ല

O

o

0, 0, 0

¥00

0 0

O

O

20

25

Fig. 3.4 RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PLASMA VITAMIN A AND CORTISOL IN CONTROL SUBJECTS AND POSTOPERATIVE COLORECTAL CANCER PATIENTS.

Chapter 4

Discussion

It has long been known that vitaman A is required for the normal histology of epithelial cells. A recent concern has been t' relationship between y min A deficiency and cancer of ithelial origin. Experimental studies have shown the vitamin A deficiency increases susceptibility to chemical carcinogenesis which can be reversed by giving vitamin A supplementation. Both biochemical and dietary studies have provided evidence to support a link between vitamin A deficiency and cancers of epithelial cell origin These studies present a consistent picture as to in man . vitamin A deficiency being a possible risk factor for cancers of the lung, bronchus and gastrointestinal tract, in particular. However, the low plasma vitamin A levels observed in these cancer patients may be largely due to a prolonged poor dietary intake and absorption in the presence of the slow growing tumor.

The present study was undertaken to investigate the bischemical status of vitamin A in colorectal cancer patients who had undergone surgery and were considered to be apparently free from the presence of tumor. One hundred and three subjects were studied which was considerably higher than the number of subjects studied in most of the other reported studies. The circulating levels of vitamin A of these patients were measured in order to provide biochemical evidence of their vitamin A status. In addition, the

results were compared with a group of apparently healthy subjects. These healthy subjects were not used as true controls but were used to merely provide normal values of vitamin A using the same method employed to determine plasma vitamin A levels in the cancer patients. Such a measure was considered important as reported results for plasma vitamin A in cancer patients were based on a number of methods used in different laboratories, thus resulting in a wide variation in reported normal ranges. The study by Wald et al. (1980) showed that 86 men with lung cancer compared to 172 controls, matched for age and smoking history had a significantly lower plasma retinol level (56 mcg/dl vs 69 mcg/dl for controls, p<0.005). In a second study, Kark et isl. (1981) showed that among 85 cancer patients compared to 174 age, race and sex-materied controls, the patients had significantly lower plasma retined levels (41 mcg/dl.vs 47 mcg/dl in controls, p<0.003). Although both of these studies were done with meticulous care and good methodology, the mean plasma retinol levels were quite different. In the ' Wald study, the controls had 69 mcg/dl of retinol, whereas in the Kark study the controls had only 47 mcg/dl. The vitamin A assays used were different. Wald et al, used high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) whereas Kark. et al. used alumina chromatogrphy followed by a fluorimatric method for estimation &f retinol.

postoperative colorectal cancer patients, though they were

्रा

71

Ą

seemingly free of the disease, had subnormal levels of vitamin A when compared with the apparently healthy subjects (43.4 mcg/dl vs 65.3 mcg/dl) (Table 3.2). This finding is consistent irrespective of either the stage of the disease or the site of the tumor (Table 3.6).

Subnormal levels of plasma vitamin A, measured as retinol have been observed in cancers of the lung (Atukorala et al., 1979; Basu et al., 1976; Basu et al., 1982); oropharyfix (Ibrahim et al., 1979) and GI tract (Abels et al., 1941). In these studies, blood samples were taken from people who still had a tumor. It is therefore possible that their appetite was depressed due to the presence of the tumor, or the tumor itself may have lowered retinol levels due to its increased requirement. Moreover, the treatment of the disease by eiter chemotherapy or radiotherapy may have resulted in a taste aberration thus depressing food intake and causing subsequent nutritional problems (DeWys, 1974; DeWys, 1975).

It is noteworthy to point out that the patients in the present study had already undergone resection of their carcinomas and were believed to be free of neoplastic disease following surgery when the blood samples were collected. In addition, these patients were not undergoing any kind of therapy and yet they were found to have subnormal circulating levels of retinol. This was true not only when the blood samples were collected soon after surgery but also in the subsequent samples collected 3/4 to

72

Č.

4 months later (Table 3.8). The low circulating vitamin A levels may have resusted for other reasons, some of which will be discussed below.

4.1 Cortisol

() 1

Corticosteroids have been reported to be antagonistic to vitamin A by favouring its elimination from the body. Thus, a negative association between vitamin A and corticosteroids have been reported in animal studies (Clark & Colburn, 1955; Atukorala et al., 1981) in which administration of cortisone to rats over a long period appeared to depress vitamin A concentration in the plasma, ver, adrenal glands, thymus and kidney. The affect was greatest on the thymus, in which marked thymic shrinkage was accompanied by a rapid depletion of vitamin A. Physical stress was also shown to precipitate frank vitamin A deficiency in rats on a marginal intake of the vitamin (Seifter et al., 1973), possibly as a result of stress induced secretion of adrenocorticotrophic hormones (ACTH). Human studies have also indicated that epithelial cancer of the breast (Desphande et al., 1969), prostate (Doe et al., 1969) and lung (Lichter & Sirett, 1968) are associated with elevated plasma levels of corticosteroids. It is possible that there is an increased requirement for vitamin A in the presence of an elevation of corticosteroids. However, in the present study, cortisol levels remained unaffected while vitamin A levels were

subnormal, therefore, it is unlikely that corticosteroids could be responsible for the low vitamin A levels in the disease-free postoperative colorectal cancer patients. This finding is further substantiated by the fact that plasma concentration of cholesterol, which is a precursor of cortisol, also remained unaffected.

4.2 Cholesterol

Vitamin A or its precursor is absorbed into the intestinal mucosal cells, along with the products of digestion of dietary fat, and re-esterified within the intestinal mucosa. The retinyl esters so formed are circulated as constituents of chylomicrons. Thus, low? plasma levels of vision A might result from the malabsorption of fat the subnormal levels of plasma vitamin A found in the cancer patients may be due to impaired fat absorption since the efficient intestinal absorption of vitamin A is dependent on a structurally intact intestinal tract, a properly functioning pancreas and an unimpaired flow of bile. The radical surgery used in the treatment of the malignancies of the GI tract may leave patients with a reduced capacity to ingest or absorb nutrients (Shils, 1979). However, the physiological and nutritional consequences of surgical resection of the GI tract of cancer have been carefully reviewed by Lawrence \neg (1977) who indicated that, unlike resection of the thoracic esophagus, stomach or pancreas, subtotal and total resection

of the colon is well tolerated from the nutritional standpoint and rarely produces nutritional deficiencies. Therefore, it is unlikely that the lower plasma vitamin A level is due to malabsorption. Furthermore, the plasma level of cholesterol, another fat soluble substance, was found to be higher in the postogrative colorectal cancer patients than in the control subjects. These findings tend to exclude the possiblity of lipid - metabolism being involved in causing subnormal vitamin A levels in these patients.

Since reports in the literature on the relation of plasma cholesterol levels to risk of death from cancer contain contradictory findings, it is noteworthy to point out the results of plasma cholesterol in this study. Several studies have suggested an inverse relationship between plasma cholesterol and colon cancer (Rose et al., 1974, Kark et al., 1980; Williams et al., 1981; Peterson et al., 1981; Kagan et al., 1981; Garcia-Palmieri et al.; 1981), while others have found no such association (Dyer et al., 1981; Kozarevic et al., 1981; Thomas et al., 1982).

The present study revealed higher plasma conce. ration of cholesterol in postoperative colorectal cancer patients than that of the control subjects. However, when the results of those who had a subsequent recurrence (n=12) were compared to those who remained disease-free (n=91), the form - group had a lower plasma cholesterol level (239.8 mg/dl vs 261.0 mg/dl). Although the difference was not

found to be statistically significant (probably due to the small number of recurrent cases), the trend is in agreement o those reported by Rose et al. (1274). They pooled the colon cancer deaths from various cardiovascular studies ("Seven Countries"; Framingham; Chicago Gas Company; Whitehall, London; Minnesota businessmen; & Chicago Western Electric company) yielding 90 cases of colon cancer whose plasma cholesterol levels were significantly lower (p<0.05) ¹⁸than those of the control subjects. In a more-recent study in Honolulu (Kagan et al., 1981), patients with colon cancer were also found to be negatively associated with cholesterol level. Furthermore, a case-control study (Kark et al., 1980), carried out in the Evans County, Georgia, revealed a significantly lower serum cholester level in those who subsequently (12 - 14 years) later) developed cancer.

In contrast to the above reports, Thomas et al. (1982) found no consistent relationship between baseline cholesterol level and cancer during a follow-up study of 30 male medical students who later developed major cancer over an extended period of 33 years. Dyer et al. (1981) pooled the data, from 3 Chicago epidemiological Studies and found no significant association between serum cholesterol level and the incidence of lung, colorectal, oral and pancreatic

It appears, therefore, that the results of the present study showing low plasma cholesterol level in the 12 patients with subsequent recurrence of colorectal cancer

cancers.

.76

only contribute to the continuing controversy. The reasons

This lack of symmetry in the association of cholesterol with cancer, and the lack of correlation between vitamin A with cholesterol require comment. Vitamin A appears to be more independent of cholesterol in its association with
Cancer than is true of the reverse. This may imply that vitamin A is causally involved in carcinogenesis while cholesterol is simply a concomitant.

4.3 Retinol-binding Protein (RBP)

RBP has long been associated with the metabolism of vitamin A. Vitamin A is mobilized from fiver stores and transported in plasma in the form of the fipid alcorol retinol, bound to RBP, which is a single properties chain with a molecular weight close to 20,000. RBP has a single binding site for one molecule of retinol and is present in plasma mainly as the RBP-retinol complex (hole CP). In addition, RBP interacts strongly with plasma prealbumin and normally circulates as a 1:1 molar RBP-prealbumin complex.

RBP is responsible for the delivery of retinol from the liver to the extrahepatic sites of action of the vitamin. Evidence is available that this delivery process may involve cell surface receptors for RBP, thus, studies have been reported which suggest that there are specific cell surface. receptors for RBP on monkey small intestine mucosal cells (Rask & Peterson, 1976), on bovine pigment epithelial cells (Heller, 1975; Chen & Heller, 1977), and on chicken testicular cell membranes (Bhat & Cama, 1979). In these studies, retinol appeared to be taken up (from holo-RBP) by the cells without a concomitant uptake of RBP. Thus, RBP appears to deliver retinol to specific surface sites that "recognize" RBP, and to release retinol at these locations. After its delivery, the retinol enters the cell for subsequent metabolism and action. The apo-RBP (i.e. RBP without retinol) does not appear to enter the cell, but returns to the circulation, where it^o shows a reduced affinity for prealbumin and is selectively filtered by the renal glomeruli.

Results in the present study have shown that, in contrast to plasma cortisol and cholesterol, the circulating RBP levels were significantly lower in the apparently disease-free colorectal cancer patients. Since vitamin A is transported to the target tissues bound to RBP, the low plasma RBP level in parallel with low plasma vitamin A raises the possibility that subnormal levels of vitamin A in the colorectal cancer patients may be the result of a lower concentration of the carrier protein. Low concentrations of both plasma vitamin A and RBP have also been observed by Atukorala (1979) in lung cancer patients, by Basu et al. (1982) in patients with epithelial cancer but not in myeloma patients.

Analyses of data available to date have indicated that subnormal plasma vitamin A levels exist long before the

appearance of tumor. Thus, subnormal levels of vitamin A were observed in subjects who subsequently developed cancer (Wald et al., 1980; Kark et al., 1981). However, RBP levels are not affected until the tumor is present. Thus, in a case-control study by Haines et al. (1982), plasma levels of RBP and vitamin A were measured in samples taken 2 - 7 years before the development of clinically manifested tumors. Results indicated that there was no difference in RBP levels between cases and contracts. This specific characteristic of RBP suggests that plasma level of the vitamin A carrier protein could be used as a tumor marker. Such a possibility is further substantiated, by the observations made in the present study where colorectal cancer patients with (Dukes' C) or without (Dukes' B2) regional lymph-node metastases we found to be associated with subnormal plasma vitamin A levels, while RBP levels appeared to be belo normal only in Dukes' Opatients. Furthermore, in follow-up studies to date, besides displaying significantly lower plasma vitamin A values (p=0.05), patients who had a subsequent recurrence of the disease also had lower RBP values than those who remained free of apparent cancer (3.7 mg/dl vs 4.6 mg/dl), although the difference between the two groups was not statistically significant. The number of recurrent patients was small and the period of study was short.

The exact mechanism for the decreased level of RBP cannot be explained at this stage. However, a number of factors could be involved, namely : a) malnutrition; b)

decreased synthesis of RBP; c) decreased level of vitamin A r in the liver; d) increased utilization of vitamin A.

4.3.1 Malnutrition

ŝ

Various studies have indicated that depressed vitamin A and RBP levels may be associated with protein deficiency. Low levels of plasma vitamin A and RBP have been observed with low concentrations of total protein and albumin in a group of Egyptian children with protein-calorie malnutrition (Smith et al., 1973a). Supplementation to these children with calories and protein, without concomitant vitamin A therapy, was found to cause a gradual elevation of vitamin A and RBP to normal levels. Although malnutrition is thought to be less common in cancer patients who have undergone radical surgery of the colon and rectum (Lawrence; 1977), the total protein and albumin concentrations in the plasma were found to be significantly lower in the patients included in the present study than those in the healthy subjects (p<0.001). It is, therefore, possible that the decreased plasma concentrations of vitamin A and RBP in the colorectal cancer patients were a manifestation bf a generalized nutritional deficiency. However, in view of the fact that the albumin and globulin ratio, the plasma cholesterol and cortisol levels in these patients were all found to be normal, the subnormal levels of /plasma vitamin A and RBP would less likely be exclusively due to malnutrition.

4.3.2 Decreased Synthesis Of RBP

->

It has been reported that zinc is involved in the synthesis of RBP. In the presence of zinc deficiency, RBP levels could be expected to be low which could, in turn, affect plasma vitamin A levels. Experimental studies have demonstrated that rats fed a zinc-deficient diet had markedly lower concentrations of plasma RBP and vitamin A than rats fed ad libitum (Smith et al., 1974; Ette et al., 1979). The liver concentration of RBP in zinc-deficient rats was only 55 - 60 percent of that of the ad libitum fed rats. Repletion of the zinc-deficient animals restored the plasma vitamin A to values within the normal range (Brown et These studies suggested that zinc deficiency al., 1976). might interfere with the synthesis of RBP which in turn affects vitamin A mobilization. Indeed, decreased plasma zinc concentraions in parallel with vitamin A and RBP have been observed in various cancer patients (Davies et al., 1968; Morgan, 1970; Atukorala et al., 1979; Basu et al., 1982).

Unfortunately, plasma zinc levels of the patients involved in the present study were not measured because of the unavailability of an atomic absorption spectrophotometr facility. The measurement of this trace element would surely add more light to the present findings.

8.1

4.3.3 Decreased Level Of Vitamin A In The Liver

Vitamin A mobilization from the liver is regulated by factors that control the rates of RBP synthesis and secretion. One factor which specifically regulates RBP secretion from liver is the nutritional vitamin A status. Studies in the rat have shown that in the retinol-deficient state, the secretion of RBP from the liver is blocked, resulting in the accumulation of an enlarged pool f apo-RBP (Muto et al., 1972; Smith et al., 1973b). Conversely repletion of retinol-deficient rats with retinol stimulates the rapid secretion of RBP from the expanded liver pool to the plasma (Smith et al., 1973b).

4.3.4 Increased Utilization Or Requirement Of Vitamin A

It has been suggested by a number of studies that there may be an increased requirement for vitamin A in the presence of a tumor. Thus, both cellular retinol-binding protein (CRBP), which binds retinol, and cellular retinoic acid-binding protein (CRABP), which binds retinoic acid, have been detected in human cancerous tissues of the lung, breast and stomach (Clamon et al., 1981; Lotan et al., 1980; Ong et al., 1975; Ong & Chytil, 1976), but not in adjacent non-malignant tissues. These findings suggest that there may be an increased requirement or utilization of vitamin A in these target cells. If this is so, there may be an extra burden on the liver to synthesize RBP at a faster rate, which could consequently exceed the rate of synthesis of the

protein leading to RBP deficiency. Whether vitamin A requirement is increased in the presence of the tumor cannot be determined by measuring only vitamin A per se, but degradation products such as retinaldehyde and retinoic acid must also be measured. To date, the method for determining retinoic acid is not available. Indeed, further research could be geared towards establishing a satisfactory method by which retinoic acid could be measured.

4.4 Reduced Dietary Intake

Recent literature has pointed out that reduced dietary intake could be responsible for the low plasma vitamin A in cancer patients. Both retrospective and prospective epidemiological dietary studies (Bjelke, 1975; Hirayama, 1979; Mettlin et al., 1979) have suggested that an inverse relation of the RR of human cancer, of epithelial cell origin in particular, and the dietary intake of vitamin A. However, as mentioned earlier (see page 16), the results of these studies must be viewed with caution as they did not take into consideration the ingestion of synthetic vitamin preparations or vitamin A-rich animal foods such as liver. Moreover, there may be some bias in these studies since patients may not be able to recall accurately foods eaten over an extended period of time, prior to the onset of the disease. In addition, feeling ill or knowing they have cancer may cause patients to describe their past diet somewhat differently from how they would have described it

if they had been healthy controls.

No information concerning the usual dietary intake of vitamin A of the patients included in the present study is available since they were sent home after they were resected "for cure" for their carcinomas and were believed to be free of evident disease. Furthermore, there are obvious difficulties in establishing such a relationship since plasma vitamin A levels may remain unaffected even when an individual had been on a vitamin A deficient diet for a prolonged period of time, as was indicated in the Sheffield Study mentioned earlier (see page 10). Therefore, what appears to be necessary is a long term combined epidemiological and biochemical study of a population "at risk" extending over several decades.

4.5 Conclusion

The work presented in this study has pointed to a series of associations that may be of causal importance in the prediction of subsequent recurrence of colorectal cancer in postoperative cancer patients who are considered to be free of the disease.

The patients in this study were found to have biochemical evidence of a vitamin A deficiency as determined by their plasma vitamin A levels. This deficiency was not due to the effect of surgery since a) all blood samples were collected at least 1 1/2 months after surgery, and b) in a follow-up study involving 40 out of 103 patients, vitamin A

levels appeared to be similar to the values obtained in the first sample of these patients. On the basis of these results, the possibility of the dietary factor being involved in lowering the plasma vitamin A concentrations in the postoperative colorectal cancer patients cannot be excluded, however, the low RBP along with low plasma vitamin A levels in these patients certainly indicate that the bioavailability of this vitamin could be impaired. The decreased availability of this vitamin is further exacerbated in those patients who had a recurrence of the disease. Whatever the mechanism may be, the fact that these disease-free postoperative colorectal cancer patients have an low circulating vitamin A could justify a supplementation of the vitamin. However, before such a measure is taken, it is of paramount importance to determine the rate of degradation of vitamin A in these patients, since the subnormal vitamin. A in the plasma may be a reflection of the degradation imposed by the increased requirement for retinoic acid. Until this is done, these subjects should be given a well-balanced diet containing adequate sources of vitamin A rather than supplementation of large doses of the vitamin. Supplementation with vitamin A in excessive amounts could possibly aggravate the growth of the cancerous tissues, should the need of these tissues for vitamin A is indeed increased.

Nonetheless, the evidence to date (Basu et al., 1983) has indicated that subnormal levels of vitamin A exist long

85.

before the existence of cancer but RBP levels decrease only in the presence of the tumor. On the basis of this evidence, possibly RBP could be used as a tumor marker. Such a hypothesis is further substantiated by the evidence in the present study, as plasma vitamin A was subnormal in colorectal patients with (Dukes' C) or without (Dukes' B2) nodal involvement, while RBP was found to be low only in patients with lymph-node metastases. Furthermore, RBP, in conjunction with vitamin A, was found to be even lower in those who had a recurrence of cancer than in those who remained disease-free.

Bibliography

ABELS, J.C., GORHAM, A.T., PACK, G.T. & RHOADS, C.F. (1941) "Metabolic studies in patients with cancer of the gastrointestinal tract. I. Plasma vitamin A levels in patients with malignant neoplastic disease, particulary of the gastrointestinal tract" J. Clin. Invest. <u>20</u>: 749-764.

ACS 1975 Canada Facta & Figures. American Cancer Society, New York, 1976.

ATUKORALA, S., BASU, T.K., DICKERSION, J.W.T., DONALDSON, D., SAKULA, A. (1979) "Vitamin A, zinc and lung cancer." Br. J. Cancer 40: 927-931.

ATUKORALA, S., BASU, T.K., DICKERSON, J.W.T. (1981) "Effects" of Corticosterone on the plasma and tissue concentration of vitamin A in rats." Ann. Nutr. Metab. <u>25</u>: 234-238.

BASU, T.K., DONALDSON, D., JENNER, H. WILLIAMS, D.C. & SAKULA, A. (1976) "Plasma vitamin A in patients with bronchial carcinoma." Br. J. Cancer <u>3</u>3: 119-121.

BASU, T.K., CHAN, U., FIELDS, T. (1983) "Vitamin A (retinol) and epithelial cancer in man." In: <u>Vitamins in the</u> <u>prevention of cancer.</u> (Prasad, K.N. ed.) Karger, N.Y., 1983. (In Press)

BASU, T.K., RAVEN, R.W., DICKERSON, J.W.T. & WILLIAMS, D.C. (1974) "Vitamin A nutrition and its relationship with plasma cholesterol in the patients with cancer." Int. J. Vitam. Nutr. Res. 44: 14-18.

BASU, T.K., ROWLANDS, J.L. & KOHN, J. (1982) "Vitamin A and retinol-binding protein in patients with myelomatosis and cancer of epithelial origin." Br. J. Cancer Clin. Oncol. 18(4): 339-342.

BESSEY, O.A., LOWREY, O.H., BROCK, M.J. & LOPEZ, J.A. (1946) "The determination of vitamin A and carotene in small quantities of blood serum." J. Biol. Chem. 166: BHAT, M.K., CAMA, H.R. (1979) "Gonadal cell surface receptor for plasma retinol-binding protein. A method for its radioassay and studies on its level during spermatogenesis." Biochim. Biophys. Acta <u>587</u>: 273-281.

BJELKE, E. (1975) "Dietary vitamin A and human lung cancer." Int. J. Cancer 15: 561-565.

BOLLAG, W. (1975) "Therapy of epithelial tumors with an aromatic retinoic acid therapy." Chemotherapy 21: 236-247.

BRENNER, S. & ROBERTS, L.J. (1943) "Effects of vitamin A depletion in young adults." Arch. Int. Med. 71: 474-482.

BROWN, E.D., CHAN, W. & SMITH, J.C. Jr. (1976) "Vitamin A metabolism during the repletion of zinc deficient rats" J. Nutr. 106: 563.

CARTER, S. (1976) "Current protocol approaches in large bowel cancer." Sem. Oncol. <u>3</u>: 433-443.

CHEN, C.C., HELLER, J. (1977) "Uptake of retinol and retinoic acid from serum retinol-binding protein by retinol pigment epithelial cells." J. Biol. Chem. <u>252</u>: 5216-5221.

CHU, E.W. & MALMGREN, R.A. (1965) "An inhibitory effect of vitamin A in the induction of tumors of forestomach and cervix in the Syrian hamster by carcinogenic polycyclic hydrocarbons." Cancer Res. <u>25</u>: 884-885.

CLAMON,G.H., NUGENT, K.M., & ROSSL, N.P. (1981) "Cellular retinoic acid-binding protein in human lung carcinomas." JNCI 67: 61-63.

CLARK, I., COLBURN, R.W. (1955) "A relationship between vitamin A metabolism and cortisone." Endocrinology <u>56</u>: 232-238. CLIFFORD, P. (1972) "Carcinogens in nose and throat: nasopharyngeal carcinoma in Kenya." Proc. Roy. Soc. Med. 65: 682-686.

COHEN, M.H., PRIMACK, A., BRODER, L.E. & WILLIAMS, L.R. (1977) "Vitamin A serum levels and dietary vitamin A intake in lung cancer patients." Cancer Letters <u>4</u>: 51-54.

COHEN, S.M., WITTENBERG, J.F. & BRYAN, G.T. (1976) "Effect of hyper and avitaminosis A on urinary bladder and carcinogenicity of N-(-4(5-nitro-2-fury))-2-thiazolyl formamide (FANFT)." Cancer Res. 36: 2334-2339.

CONE, M.V., & NETTLESHEIM, P. (1973) "Effects of vitamin A on 3-methylcholanthrene-induced squamous metaplasia and early tumors in the respiratory tract of rats." JNCI 50: 1599-1606.

CROCKER, T.T. & SANDERS, L.L. (1970) "Influence of vitamin A and 3, 7-dimethyl-2, 6-octadienal (citral) on the effect of benzo(a)pyrene on hamster trachea in organ culture." Cancer Res. 30: 1312-1316.

DAVIES, I.J.T., MUSA, M. & DORMANDY, T.L. (1968) "Measurements of plasma zinc." J. Clin. Path. <u>21</u>: 359-365.

DAVIES, R.E. (1967) "Effect of vitamin A on 7, 12-dimethyl benz(a)anthracene-induced papillomas in rhino mouse skin." Cancer Res. <u>27</u>: 237-241.

DE LUCA, L., ANDERSON, H. & WOLF, G. (1971) "The in vivo and in vitro biosynthesis of lung tissue glycopeptide." Arch. Intern. Med. 127: 853-857.

DE LUCA, L., MAESTRI, N., BONANNI, F., NELSON, D. (1972)
 "Maintenance of epithelial cell differentiation. The
 mode of action of vitamin A. " Cancer <u>30</u>: 1326-1331.

DESPHANDE, N., JENSEN, V., CARSON., P. & BULBROOK, R.D. (1969) "Some aspects of the measurement of cortisol production in patients with breast cancer." J. Endocr. <u>45</u>: 571-578. DEWYS, W.D. (1974) "Abnormalities of taste as a remote effect of a neoplasm." Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 230: 427-434.

DEWYS, W.D. & WALTERS; K. (1975) "Abnormalities of taste sensation in cancer patients." Cancer <u>36</u>: 1888-1896.

DOE, R.P., DICKERSON, P., ZINNEMAN, H.H. & SEAL, U.S. (1969) "Elevated nonprotein bound cortisol, (NPC) in pregnancy, during estrogen administration and in carcinoma of the prostate." J. Clin. Endocr, Metab. 29: 757-766.

1.5

DOUMAS, B.T., WATSON, W.A. & BIGGS, H.G. (197) "Albumin standards and the measurement of serum albumin with bromcresol green." Clin. Chim. Acta. 31: 87-96.

DOWLING, J.E. & WALD, G. (1960) "The biological function of vitamin A acid." Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. <u>46</u>: 587.

DUKES, C.E. (1932) "The classification of cancer of the rectum" J. Path. Bact. 35: 323-332.

DYER, A.R., STAMLER, J., PAUL, O., SHEKELLE, R.B., (1981) "Serum cholesterol and risk of death from cancer and other causes in three Chicago epidemiological studies." J. Chron. Dis. 34: 249-260.

ETTE,S.I., BASU, T.K. & DICKERSON, J.W.T. (1979) "Short-term effect of zinc-sulphate on plasma and hepatic concentrations of vitamin A and E in normal weaning rats." Nutr. Metab. 23: 11-16.

FUJIMAKI, Y. (1926) "Formation of carcinoma in albino rats fed on deficient diets." J. Cancer Res. 10: 469-471. 10:469-477.

GANGULY, J. (1969) "Absorption of vitamin A." Am J. Clin. Nutr. 22: 923-933.

GARCIA-PALMIERI, M.R., SORLIE, P.D., COSTAS, R. & HAVLIK, R.J. (1981) "An apparent inverse relationship between serum cholesterol and cancer mortality in Purto Rico." Am. J. Epidem. 114: 29-40.

GENTA, V.M., KAUFMAN, D.G., HARRIS, C.C. SMITH, J.M., SPORN, M.B., SAFFIOTTI, U. (1974) "Vitamin A deficiency enhances binding of benzo(a)pyrene to tracheal epithelial DNA." Nature 247: 48-49.

ľ

GOODMAN, DE W.S., BLOMSTRAND, R., WERNER, B., HUANG, H.S. & SHIRATORI, T. (1966) "The intestinal absorption and metabolism of vitamin A and β -carotene in man." J. Clin. Invest. <u>45</u>: 1615-1623.

GOODMAN, DE W.S., HUANG, H.S. & SHIRATORI, T. (1965) "The tissue distribution and metabolism of newly absorbed vitamin A in the rat." J. Lipid Res. <u>6</u>: 390.

GOODMAN, DE W.S., SMITH, J.E. HEMBRY, R. M. & DINGLE, J.T. (1974) "Comparison of the effects of vitamin A and its analogs upon rabbit ear cartilage in organ culture and upon growth of the vitamin A-deficient rat." J. Lipid Res. <u>15</u>: 406-414.

- GORNALL, A.G., BRADAWILL, C.J. & DAVID, M.M. (1949)
 "Determination of serum proteins by means of the Biruet
 reaction." J. Biol. Chem. <u>177</u>: 751-766.
- GRAHAM, S., METTLIN, C., MARSHALL J., PRIORE, R., RZEPKA, T SHEDD, D. (1981) "Dietary factors in the epidemiology of cancer of the larynx." Am. J. of Epidem. <u>113</u>: 675-680.

GRUBBS, C.J., MOON, R.C., SPORN, M.B. & NEWTON, D.L. (1977) "Inhibition of mammary cancer by retinyl methyl ether." Cancer Res. <u>37</u>: 599-602.

HAINES, A.P., THOMPSON, S.G., BASU, T.K., HUNT, R. (1982)
 "Cancer, retinol binding-protien, zinc and copper."
 Lancet 1: 52

HANSEN, L.G. & WARWICK W.J. (1968) "A fluorometric method for the determination of serum vitamin A." Am. J. Clin. Pathol. <u>50</u>: 525-529.

HELLER, J. (1975) "Interactions of plasma retinol-binding protein with its receptor. Specific binding of bovine and human retinol-binding protein to pigment epithelium cells from bovine eyes." J. Biol. Chem. <u>250</u>: 3613-3619.

- HELLER, J. & CHEN, C.C. (1977) "Uptake of retinol and retinoic acid from serum retinol-binding protien by retinol pigment epithelial cells." J. Biol. Chem. <u>252</u>: 5216-5221.
- HIRAYAMA, T. (1979) "Diet and cancer." Nutr. & Cancer 1(3): 67-81.
- HUANG, H.S. & GOODMAN DE W.S. (1965) "Vitamin A and caroteinolds. I. Intestinal absorption and metabolism of 14C-labeled vitamin A alcohol and β -carotene in the rat." J. Biol. Chem. <u>240</u>: 2839-2844.
- HUME, E.M. & KREBS, H.A. (1949) "Vitamin A requirement of human adults." Med. Res. Council Spec. Rep. Ser. No. 264 (HMSO, London).
- IBRAHIM, K., JAFAREY; N.A. & ZEBERI, S.I. (1977) "Plasma vitamin A and carotene levels in squamous cell carcinoma of the oral cavity and oro-pharynx." Clin. Oncol. 3: { 203-207.
- INGENBLEEK, Y., VAN DEN SCHRIECK, H.G., DE NAYER, P. & DE VISSCHER, M. (1975) "The role of retinol-binding protein in protein-calorie malnutrition." Metabolism 24: 633-641. Clin. Chim. Acta. 63: 61-67.
- KAGAN, A., MCGEE, D.L., YANO, K., RHOADS,G.G., & NOMURA, A. (1981) "Serum cholesterol and mortality in Japanese-American population. The Honolulu Heart Program." Am. J. Epidem. 114: 11-20.
- KARK, J.D., SMITH, A.H. & HAMES, C.G. (1980) "The relationship of serum cholesterol to the incidence of cancer in Evans County, Georgia." J. Chron. Dis. <u>33</u>: 311-322.
- KARK, J.D., SMITH, A.H., SWITZA, B.R. & HAMES, C.G. (1981)
 "Serum vitamin A (retinol) and cancer incidence in Evans
 County, Georgia." JNCI 66: 7-16
- KOZAREVIC, D.J., MCGEE, D., VOJVODIC, N., GORDON, T., RACIC, Z. (1981) "Serum cholesterol and mortality. The Yugoslavia Cardiovascular Disease Study." Am. J. Epidem. 114: 21-28.

LAWRENCE, W.J. (1977) "Nutritional consequences of surgical resection of the gastrointestinal tract of cancer." Cancer Res. <u>37</u>: 2379-2386.

LICHTER, I. & SIRETT, N.E. (1968) "Plasma cortisol levels in lung cancer." Br. Med. J. <u>2</u>: 154-156.

LIM, C.N.H. (1979) "Gastro-intestinal malignancy." Modern Medcine of Canada <u>34</u>: 1458-1464.

LOTAN, R., ONG, D.E. & CHYTIL, F. (1980) "Comparison of the level of cellular retinol-binding proteins and susceptibility to retinoid-induced growth inhibition of various neophastic cell lines." JNCI <u>64</u>: 1259-1262.

MCCARTEN, A.B., PRESTON, W. (1973) "Cancer of the colon and rectum." Quoted in : LIM, C.N.H. (1979) "Gastro-intestinal malignancy." Modern Med. of Canada 34: 1458-464.

MACLENNAN, R., DA COSTA, J., DAY, N.E., LAW, C.H., NG, Y.K. SHANMUGARATNAM, K. (1977) "Risk factors for lung cancer in Singapore Chinese, a population with high female incidence rates." Int. J. Can. <u>20</u>: 854-860.

MAHADEVEN, S., MALATHI, P., GANGULY, J. (1965) "Influence of protein on absorption and metabolism of vitamin A." World Rev. of Nutr. & Diet. 5: 209-236.

MANCINI, G., CARBONARA, A.O. & HEREMAN, J.I. (1965) "Immunochemical quantitation of antigens by single radial immunodiffusion." Immunochem. 2: 235-254,

MANTEL, N. & HAENSZEL, W. (1959) "Statistical aspects of the analysis of data from retrospective studies of disease." J. Natl. Cancer, Inst. <u>22</u>: 719-748.

MATTINGLY, D. (1962) "A simple fluor-imetric method for the estimation of free 11-hydroxycorticoids in human plasma." J. Clin. Path. 5: 374-379.

METTLIN, C. & GRAHAM, S. (1979) "Dietary factors in human bladder cancer." Am. J. Epidem. 110: 235-238. METTLIN, C., GRAHAM, S. & SWANSON, M. (1979) "Vitamin A and lung cancer." JNCI <u>62</u>: 1435-1438.

- MEYER, K.A., POPPER, H., STEIGMANN, F., WALTERS, W.H., & ZEVIR, S. (1942) "Comparison of vitamin A of liver specimens with plasma vitamin A in man." Proc. Soc. Exptl. Biol. Med. 49: 589-591.
- MOON, R.C., GRUBBS, C.J., SPORN, M.B., GOODMAN, DE G.S. (1977) "Retinyl acetate inhibits mammary carcinogenesis induced by N-methyl-N-nitrosurea." Nature 267: 620-621.
- MOORE, T. (1967) "Effect of vitamin A deficiency in animals." In: <u>The Vitamins</u>, Vol. I. (Sebrell, W.H. & Harris, R.S., eds.). pp245-266, N.Y. Acad. Press, 1967.
- MORGAN, J.M. (1970) "Cadmium and zinc abnormalities in bronchogenic carcinoma." Cancer 25: 1394-1398.
- MUTO, Y., SMITH, J.E., MILCH, P.O.,GOODMAN, DE G.S.(1972)
 "Regulation of retinol-binding protein metabolism by
 vitamin A status in the rat." J. Biol. Chem. 247:
 2542-2550.
- NETTLESHEIM, P. & WILLIAMS, M.L. (1976) "The influence of vitamin A on the susceptibility of the rat lung to 3-methylcholanthrene." Int. J. Can. 17: 351-357.
- NETTLESHEIM, P., SNYDER, C., WILLIAMS, M.L., CONE, M.V. & KIM, J. C. (1975) "Effects of vitamin A on lung tumor induction in rats." Proc. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. <u>16</u>: 54 (Abst. 216).
- NEWBERNE, P.M. & ROGERS, A.E. (1973a) "Rat colon carcinoma associated with a latox n and marginal vitamin A" JNCI 50:.439-448.
- NEWBERNE, P.M., ROGERS, A.E., HERNDON, B.J. (1973b) "Induction by dimethylhydrazine of intestinal carcinoma in normal rats and rats fed high or low levels of vitamin A." (Cancer Res. <u>33</u>: 1003-1009.

NIE, N.H., HULL, C.H., JENKINS, J.G., STEINBRENNER, K. & BRENT, D.H. (eds.) <u>Statistical</u> Package For The Social

Sciences. 2nd ed. McGraw Hill; 1975.

- ONG, D.E., PAGE, D.L., & CHYTIL, F. (1975) "Retinoic acid-binding protein : Occurence in human tumor." Science 190: 60-61.
- ONG, D.E. & CHYTIL, F. (1976) "Presence of cellular retinol and retinoic acid binding proteins in experimental tumors." Cancer Letters 2: 2530.
- PAWSON, B.A. (1981) "A historical introduction to the chemistry of vitamin A and its analogs (retinoids)." Ann. N.Y. Acad. of Sci. <u>359</u>: 1-8.
- PEARSON, W.N. (1967) "Blood and urinary vitamin levels as potential indices of body stores." Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 20: 514-525.
- PEARSON, S., STERN, S. & MCGAVACK, T.H. (1953) "A rapid, accurate method for the determination of total serum cholesterol." Anal. Chem. 25: 813-814.
- PETERSON, B., TRELL , E., & STERNBY, N.H. (1981) "Low cholesterol level as risk factor for noncoronary death in middle-aged men." JAMA 245: 2056-2057.
- PORT, C.D., SPORN, M.B. & KAUFMAN, D.G. (1975) "Prevention of lung cancer in hamsters by 13-cis-retinoic acid." Proc. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. <u>16</u>: 21.
- PROVINCIAL CANCER HOSPITALS BOARD. (1981a) <u>Annual Report Of</u> <u>The Provincial Cancer Hospitals Board, 1979-1980.</u> Edmonton, Alberta. 1981.
- PROVINCIAL CANCER HOSPITALS BOARD (1981b) <u>Cancer</u> Registration in Alberta. Edmonton, Alberta. 1981.
- RASK, L., PETERSON, P.A. (1976) "In vitro uptake of vitamin A from the retinol-binding plasma protein to mucosal epithelial cells from the monkey's small intestine." J. Biol. Chem. 251: 6360-6366.

ROELS, O.A., ANDERSON, O.R., LIU, N.S.T., SHAH, D.O., &

TRONT, M.E. (1969) "Vitamin A and membrane" Am. J. Clin. Nutr. <u>22</u>: 1020-1032.

- ROSE, G., BLACKBURN, H. KEYS, A. KANNEL, W.B., PAUL, O., REID, D.D. & STAMLER, J. (1974) "Colon cancer and blood cholesterol." Lancet 1: 181-183.
- SAFFIOTTI, U., MONTESANO, R. SELLAKUMAN, A.R. & BORG, S.A. (1967) "Experimental cancer of the lung. Inhibition by vitamin A of the induction of tracheobronchial squamous metaplasia and squamous cell tumors." Cancer 20: 857-864.
- SEIFTER, E., RETTURA, G., SEIFTER, J., DAVIDSON, H., LEVENSON, S.M. (1973) "Thymotropic action of vitamin A (abstract)." Fed Proc. <u>32</u>: 947.
- SHILS, M.E. (1979) "Nutritional problems induced by cancer." ⁴ Med. Clin. Of N. Am. <u>63</u>: 1009-1025.
- SMITH, J.E., BROWN, E.D. & SMITH, J.C. Jr. (1974) "The effect of zinc deficiency on the metabolism of retinol-binding protein in the rat." J. Lab. Clin. Med. 84: 692-698.
- SMITH, F.R., GOODMAN, DE W.S., ZAKLAMA, M.S. (1973a) "Serum vitamin A, retinol-binding protein, and prealbumin concentrations in protein-calorie malnutrition." Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 26: 973-987.
- SMITH, J.E., MUTO, Y., MILCH, P.O., GOODMAN, DE W.S. (1973b) "The effects of chylomicrons vitamin A on the metabolism of retinol-binding protein in the rat." J. Biol. Chem. 248: 1544-1549.

SPORN, M.B. (1977) "Retinoids and carcinogenesis." Nutr. Rev. 35(4): 65-69.

SPORN, M.B., DUNLOP, N.M., NEWTON, D.L. & SMITH, J.M. (1976)
 "Prevention of chemical carcinogenesis by vitamin A and
 its synthetic analogs (retinoids)." Fed Proc. 35:
 1332-1338.

STEVENINCK, .V., & DE GOEIJ, A.F.P.M. (1973) "Determination

of vitamin A in blood plasma of patients with carotenaemia." Clin. Chim. Acta. <u>49</u>: 61-64.

THEOLOGIDES, A. "Cancer and Cachexia." In : <u>Nutrition And</u> <u>Cancer.</u> pp75-74 (Winck, M., ed.), Jon Wiley & Sons, N.Y., 1977.

THOMAS, C.B., DUSZYNSKI, K.R. & SHAFFER J.W. (1982) "Cholesterol levels in young adulthood and subsequent cancer : A preliminary note." The Johns Hopkins Med. J. 150: 89-94.

THOMPSON, J.N., ERODDY, P. & MAXWELL, W.B. (1973) "Simultaneous flurometric determination of vitamin A & E in human serum & plasma." Biochem. Med. <u>8</u>: 403-414.

THOMPSON, J.N., HOWELL, J.M. & PITT, G.A.J. (1964) "Vitamin A and reproduction in rats." Proc. Roy. Soc. London 159: 510-515.

TOYOSHIMA, K. & LEITHTON, J. (1975) "Vitamin A inhibition of keratinization in rat urinary bladder cancer cell line Nara Bladder Tumor No. 2 in meniscus gradient culture." Cancer Res. 35: 1873-1876.

UNDERWOOD, B.A. (1974) "The determination of vitamin A and some aspects of its distribution, mobilization and transport in health and disease." World Rev. of Nutr. & Diet. <u>19</u>: 123-172.

WAHI, P.N., BODKHA, R.R., AGORA, S. (1962) "Serum vitaminn A studies in leukoplakia and carcinoma of the oral cavity." Indian J. Path. Bact. <u>5</u>: 10-16.

WALD, G. (1968) "Molecular basis of visual excitation." Sciene 162: 230-239.

WALD, G., BRONHA, L., & JOHNSON, R.E. (1942) "Experimental human vitamin A deficiency and the ability to perform muscualr exercise." Am. J. Physiol. 137: 551-556.

WALD, N., IDLE, M., BOREHAM, J., & BAILEY, A. (1980) "Low serum vitamin A and subsequent risk of cancer." Lancet 2: 813-815. WATSON, D. (1960) "A simple method for the determination of serum cholesterol." Clin. Chim Acta. <u>5</u>: 637-643.

WATT, B.K. & MERRILL, A.L. (1968) "Composition of foods : raw, processed, prepared." Agr. Res. Serv. Agr. Handbook No. 8, U.S. Dept. Agr., Washington, D.C.

WILLIAMS, R.R. SORLIE, P.D., FEINLEIB, M., MCNAMARA, P.M. (1981) "Cancer incidence by levels of cholesterol." JAMA 245: 247-252.

••

с